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“Not only have we achieved our primary 
goal of advancing our East Rand exploration 
assets and increasing our footprint in 
this region, but we have simultaneously 
diversified our project portfolio into 
different commodities and have taken the 
first steps towards expansion beyond the 
borders of South Africa.” 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S REVIEW
Dear Shareholder

It has been an exciting year of significant growth for Goliath 
Gold Mining Limited (“Goliath Gold” or “the company”) and I 
am pleased to present the financial and operational review for 
the year ended 31 December 2012. 

Not only have we achieved our primary goal of advancing 
our East Rand exploration assets and increasing our footprint 
in this region, but we have simultaneously diversified our 
project portfolio into different commodities and have taken 
the first steps towards expansion beyond the borders of 
South Africa. These achievements are especially pleasing 
considering the tough economic climate in 2012; a difficult 
year for many exploration companies both locally and 
internationally. 

In March 2012 the company expanded its footprint in 
the East Rand Basin through the successful acquisition 
of Gold One’s Megamine business, for a consideration of 
ZAR 262 million. This consideration was settled by way of the 
issue of 104,891,947 Goliath Gold ordinary shares and resulted 
in Gold One International Limited (“Gold One”), through 
its wholly owned subsidiary Gold One Africa Limited (“Gold 
One Africa”), acquiring a 72% controlling interest in Goliath 
Gold.  In addition, Goliath Gold entered into a management 
agreement with Gold One, thereby allowing Goliath Gold 
access to the extensive skills and knowledge base that resides 
in Gold One, in an extremely cost effective manner.

The amalgamation of historically independent but contiguous 
mining properties on the East Rand into a single exploration 
project has allowed Goliath Gold to undertake a regional 
and holistic geological modelling approach. This approach 
has underpinned the development of a novel and robust 
geological model for Megamine’s primary target: the Nigel 

Reef. Geological knowledge and the models developed have 
been utilised to identify prospective shallow targets and guide 
a focused exploration programme that has to date included 
the drilling of 39 surface boreholes as well as extensive 
surface and underground mapping. 

This programme has facilitated the estimation of 
mineral resources across the Megamine Project. Total 
estimated mineral resources include 12.19 million ounces 
of gold (including 82.07 million tonnes grading at 
4.62 grams per tonne), with indicated mineral resources of 
3.64 million ounces (including 25.62 million tonnes grading at 
4.42 grams per tonne) and inferred mineral resources of 
8.56 million ounces (including 56.45 million tonnes grading 
at 4.72 grams per tonne) (see page 20 for the detailed mineral 
resources table). Importantly, for the first time at Megamine 
this resource has included the up-dip Wit Nigel portion of 
the project. Approximately 3.6 million ounces of the total 
estimated resource base occur at depths shallower than 
1,000 metres below surface, of which 1.5 million ounces are 
estimated to occur at depths shallower than 500 metres. The 
2013 focus at the Megamine Project will be on enhancing 
the value of the substantial mineral resource base by 
advancing selected targets through additional drilling and the 
application of economic studies to ultimately define minable 
mineral reserves. 

In April 2012 Goliath Gold took a further step in establishing 
its position in the East Rand by announcing that the company 
had entered into an acquisition agreement to acquire control 
over selected underground deposits of Grootvlei Proprietary 
Mines Limited, Consolidated Modderfontein Mines 1979 
Limited and Nigel Gold Mining Company (Pty) Limited from 
subsidiaries belonging to Pamodzi Gold East Rand (Pty) 



 | 5 

Goliath Gold Mining Limited

Limited (“Pamodzi Gold East Rand”), which is currently in 
provisional liquidation. Goliath Gold will pay ZAR 5 million 
for the acquisition of the historical mining and technical 
data and, in addition, will secure prospecting rights that will 
provide the company access to explore one of the largest 
single brownfield exploration properties remaining in the 
Witwatersrand Basin. The opportunity to explore and develop 
such assets without the associated legacy of pumping and 
environmental liabilities is critical to the successful execution 
of Goliath Gold’s strategy to extend the life of gold mining in 
the East Rand. The prospecting rights for which Goliath Gold 
has applied have been formally accepted by the Department 
of Mineral Resources and it is expected that the approval 
process will be completed by July 2013. 

In August 2012 Goliath Gold initiated Project Elephant 
following the successful granting of prospecting rights in 
the Vredendal magisterial district of South Africa’s Western 
Cape Province. Project Elephant comprises heavy mineral 
sand deposits. These deposits are mined on a large scale to 
the north of the project area by Exxaro Resources’s Namakwa 
Sands Mine.

We also took our first steps towards expanding our African 
footprint during the year under review by applying for an 
exclusive prospecting licence for the Etendeka Project in 
Namibia and are currently awaiting the successful granting of 
the licence. The prospecting licence encompasses base, rare 
and precious metals.

On 29 November 2012 Goliath Gold announced the 
resignation of CEO Neal Froneman and the appointment of 
myself, Richard Stewart, as CEO. Neal, who was instrumental 
in the creation of Goliath Gold, has been appointed as CEO of 

Sibanye Gold, which holds the South African assets (excluding 
South Deep) previously belonging to Gold Fields. On behalf 
of myself and the board, we would like to extend our sincere 
thanks to Neal for his valuable contribution in creating and 
developing Goliath Gold and wish him the best of success in 
his future endeavours. 

For 2013 the company’s immediate focus will be on advancing 
our Megamine Project, successfully closing the Pamodzi 
Gold East Rand transaction and identifying further shallow 
exploration targets with near term production potential, 
securing the exclusive prospecting licence for Etendeka, and 
initiating exploration in the Project Elephant area. Across all of 
Goliath Gold’s assets we will continue to employ our technical 
and commercial exploration approach to identify and advance 
high value yielding exploration targets. 

With the ongoing support of our strategic partners and 
financial backing from Gold One, our major shareholder, 
Goliath Gold is well positioned to take full advantage of 
difficult exploration market conditions and establish itself as 
a leading African explorer. Following our bold growth in 2012 
I look forward to reporting on our continued progress during 
the coming year. 

Richard Stewart
CEO
28 March 2013
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND 
STRUCTURE
Goliath Gold is a South African incorporated mining exploration company listed on the main board of the JSE in the ‘Mining: 
General Mining’ sector, issuer code GGM. The company holds gold prospecting rights over several contiguous areas in South 
Africa’s Witwatersrand Basin in the Gauteng Province as well as a prospecting right for heavy mineral sands over an area within 
South Africa’s Western Cape Province. 

As at the date of this report the company is awaiting the granting of two additional gold prospecting rights over areas contiguous 
to its existing Witwatersrand Basin assets, as well as a prospecting licence over a greenfield area in Etendeka, Namibia. 

The majority of the company’s existing Witwatersrand Basin assets were acquired from Gold One by way of the issue of Goliath 
Gold ordinary shares, resulting in Gold One, through its a wholly owned subsidiary Gold One Africa, acquiring a 72% controlling 
interest in the company. 

Goliath Gold has an established mineral gold resource base of over approximately 12 million ounces, compliant with the South 
African Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (“SAMREC Code”). Potential diversified 
commodities are also being considered. 

The company was originally incorporated as Witwatersrand Nigel Limited on 3 May 1933 and was renamed as New Mining 
Corporation Limited on 20 January 1999. On 4 November 2002, New Mining Corporation Limited was renamed as Matodzi 
Resources Limited and thereafter, on 6 February 2009, the company was renamed as White Water Resources Limited (“WWR”). 

Subsequent to the passing of ordinary and special resolutions at the general meeting of WWR held on 22 March 2011 and the 
registration thereof, the company changed its name to Goliath Gold on 26 April 2011 to better reflect the new intended nature 
of its business as a gold exploration and development company.
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STRUCTURE

The diagram set out below represents the structure of Goliath Gold as at 31 December 2012. 

*Refer to page 94 for detailed shareholder information.

Newshelf 1201 (Pty) Ltd

“Project Elephant”

Micawber 400 (Pty) Limited

Mvela Partnership en Commandite

The Southern BEE Consortium

Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle (Pty) Limited

“Megamine”

Newshelf 1186 (Pty) Ltd

“Pamodzi Gold East Rand”

74%

26%

26%

26%

74%

74%

Gold One Africa Minority Shareholders*

Goliath Gold

72% 28%

• Brakfontein Diamante (Pty) Limited (held through IEN Investments (Pty) Limited)

• Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited

• Guild Hall No. 22 (Pty) Limited

• IEN Investments (Pty) Limited

• Newlands Minerals (Pty) Limited

• Witnigel Investments (Pty) Limited

100%
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COMPANY OVERVIEW
2012 CORPORATE ACTIVITY

During 2012 Goliath Gold established and advanced its 
portfolio of quality gold exploration assets in the East Rand 
Basin of South Africa. This was initiated in March 2012 when the 
company announced that all conditions precedent pertaining 
to the acquisition of Gold One’s Megamine business had 
been either fulfilled or waived. The acquisition of Megamine 
for a consideration of ZAR 262 million, settled by way of the 
issue of 104,891,947 Goliath Gold ordinary shares, resulted 
in Gold One acquiring a 72% controlling interest in Goliath 
Gold through a wholly owned subsidiary. The amalgamation 
of Megamine and Goliath Gold’s adjacent Wit Nigel Project 
has since created a continuous exploration target where the 
historically mined Nigel Reef occurs from surface outcrop to 
depths of approximately 2.5 kilometres, and spans a strike 
length in excess of 25 kilometres. 

Following the Megamine acquisition, in April 2012 Goliath Gold 
announced that the company had entered into an acquisition 
agreement together with Gold One to acquire control over 
certain East Rand based underground deposits from Pamodzi 
Gold East Rand, which is currently under provisional liquidation, 
for a purchase price of ZAR 70 million. Goliath Gold will pay 
ZAR 5 million for the acquisition of the historical mining and 
technical data and, in addition, will secure prospecting rights 
that will provide the company with access to explore one of 
the largest single brownfield exploration properties remaining 
in the Witwatersrand Basin. The acquisition agreement 
provides for the withdrawal by Pamodzi Gold East Rand of 
its conversion applications in respect of the old order mining 
rights, and the simultaneous lodging by Goliath Gold for new 
order prospecting rights. The successful awarding of new order 
prospecting rights will ensure that Goliath Gold will not be 
responsible for any historical environmental mining, water 
pumping or acid mine drainage liabilities. The prospecting right 
applications were successfully lodged in December 2012 and 
have been formally accepted by the Department of Mineral 
Resources. The company has completed the necessary public 
consultations and Environmental Management Plans required 
for the final granting of the applications. 

Pending the successful granting of these exploration rights, 
it is Goliath Gold’s intention to focus on shallow exploration 
opportunities within previously unmined areas of the Pamodzi 
East Rand assets. Exploration will target future mining areas 
that will not be constrained by historical inefficient production 
infrastructure and pumping liabilities, which historically 
negatively impacted on the economic viability of operations 
in the area. 

During August 2012 Goliath Gold was granted eight contiguous 
prospecting rights for heavy minerals in the Western Cape 
over certain lots in the Olifants River settlement and certain 
farms situated in the district of Vredendal, in extent of 32,467 
hectares. The rights were granted for a period of two years 
to allow Goliath Gold to carry out non-invasive prospecting 
activities.

In December 2012 the company undertook its first step towards 
geographical diversification through the application for an 
exclusive prospecting licence in Namibia. The prospecting 
licence submitted considers the Etendeka Project, a greenfield 
project situated in northern Namibia, where potential gold, 
copper and phosphate mineralisation has been identified. 
The licence for Etendeka was initially acquired by Gold One in 
2005 and lapsed in December 2012, upon which Goliath Gold 
lodged an application over the area. The company is awaiting 
the successful granting of the licence. Under the tenure of Gold 
One regional geophysical surveys, soil sampling programmes 
and detailed surface mapping were undertaken at Etendeka, 
facilitating the definition of priority exploration and drill 
target areas. Pending the successful awarding of a prospecting 
licence, it is Goliath Gold’s intent to continue to progress the 
exploration activities at Etendeka with a view to determining 
the economic prospects of the identified target areas.

PROJECTS

MEGAMINE

Location

The Megamine Project is located in the East Rand Goldfield of 
the Witwatersrand Basin, between the N3 and N17 highways 
near the towns of Nigel and Heidelberg, approximately 55 
kilometres southeast of Johannesburg. The project comprises 
four contiguous prospecting rights over the West Vlakfontein, 
Vlakfontein, Spaarwater and Wit Nigel areas, which jointly 
total 34,313 hectares, as well as a new order mining right for 
the Sub Nigel area and a portion of Spaarwater, which includes 
an additional 3,013 hectares. 
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The Witwatersrand Basin and outline of major goldfields (modified after Pretorius, 1964). The Megamine Project is 
depicted in green.

Summary of the legal tenure of mineral rights

PROJECT DMR REFERENCE
MINING TITLE 

NUMBER

PERIOD 
OF RIGHT 
(YEARS)

DATE OF GRANTING/
RENEWAL HECTARES

Sub Nigel 1-3 GP (28) MR 31/2010 MR 30 Granted 15 July 2008 3 013.3142 

Sub Nigel 4 and 5 
(Spaarwater)

GP (45) PR 31/2012 PR 3 Renewal granted 
23 March 2012

2 643.3942 

Sub Nigel 6 (West 
Vlakfontein)

GP (142) PR 33/2012 PR 3 Renewal granted 
23 March 2012

3 860.5435 

Sub Nigel 8 
(Vlakfontein)

GP (260) PR 26/2012 PR 5* Renewal lodged 
28 January 2013

6 540.7174 

Wit Nigel GP (73) PR 181/2007 PR 5* Renewal lodged 
12 August 2011

21 268.2400

 

*In accordance with section 18(5) of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, a prospecting right in respect of which an application for 
renewal has been lodged shall, despite its stated expiry date, remain in force until such time as such application has been granted or refused. Should 
renewal be granted, the Sub Nigel 8 (Vlakfontein) and Wit Nigel prospecting rights will each be valid for a period of three years.
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Legal tenure of the Megamine Project
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Geology and Mineralisation

The Witwatersrand Supergroup is a predominantly sedimentary succession with a maximum thickness of about 7,000 metres, 
deposited in the Archaean Witwatersrand Basin, of which only 350 kilometres by 200 kilometres are known to be preserved 
today. Although locally variable, the sedimentary strata generally dip at shallow angles towards the centre of the preserved 
basin. The succession is made up of varying proportions of quartzite, shale, conglomerate and volcanic rocks (McCarthy, 2006). 
Auriferous orebodies exploited within the basin, locally referred to as reefs, consist predominantly of narrow (0.1 metres to 
2 metres in thickness) quartz-pebble conglomerate units that frequently display significant lateral continuity within local 
gold-mining districts. 

The conglomerate layers, or reefs, that may contain laterally extensive lensoid quartzite middlings are extraordinary in that 
they exhibit remarkable lateral continuity and can be followed on strike for hundreds of kilometres. Gold and uranium are not 
uniformly distributed within these reefs and sedimentary facies with differing reef characteristics are present. Locally varying 
grades and reef thicknesses reflect the channelised nature of the conglomerate. This holds especially true for reefs contained in 
the Kimberley Formation, which is part of the Turffontein Subgroup.

The Nigel Reef, Big Pebble Marker (“BPM”, also referred to as MK2) and UK9A (also referred to as May Reef), as well as the Black Reef, 
are widely developed across the Megamine Project although mineralisation within these reefs is not necessarily homogeneous or 
economic. The Nigel Reef, also referred to as the Main or South Reef, forms the primary orebody in the Megamine Project area 
and comprises a well-sorted conglomeratic unit comprising predominantly vein quartz pebbles (Robb and Robb, 1998). This unit 
is developed at the base of the Johannesburg Subgroup and in the project area seldom exceeds one metre in thickness. Regional 
higher grade “payshoots” correlate with a northwest to southeast sediment transport direction (Lyons, 2003a). The footwall of 
the Nigel Reef influences reef characteristics and in areas where the footwall consists of arenaceous shale, such as in the western 
portion of Spaarwater, the gold content increases dramatically, as does the reef thickness (Burnett, 2007).

The BPM in the East Rand is a generally well developed conglomerate zone of varied thickness from less than 0.5 metres to 48 
metres (De Jager, 1964). Individual pebble bands laterally grade into quartzite, while locally, lenticular bodies of chloritoid- or 
rutile-rich shale are interbedded. Pebbles generally comprise quartz and chert, with chert pebbles reaching up to 22 centimetres 
in diameter. The gold content in the BPM is sporadic and locally high (De Jager, 1957).

The UK9A has historically been mined on a local scale in the Megamine Project area and remains a significant future exploration 
target. This reef consists of small to large well-rounded quartz pebbles in a quartzitic matrix (Meadon, 2003). The UK9A ranges 
in thickness from a robust 3 metre thick conglomerate to a thin contact lag (Armstrong, 1968). Highly payable UK9A is generally 
characterised by an ‘ashy’, sandy matrix, with interstitial carbon, pyrite, pyrrhotite, rutile, gold, zircon and chromite. Buckshot 
Pyrite up to 5 millimetres in diameter can occur (De Jager, 1957).

The Black Reef stratigraphically located at the base of the Transvaal Supergroup is deposited on a highly unconformable surface. 
It is mined at Gold One’s Modder East Operation located along the northern perimeter of the East Rand Basin, where it is termed 
‘Buckshot Pyrite Leader Zone’. Economically mined Black Reef occurs either as shoreline deposits or as payshoots generally 
defined as channels, which are preferably superimposed on footwall shale. This reef, furthermore, is characterised by a polymictic 
pebble assemblage with sulphides predominating the matrix.
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East Rand Goldfield stratigraphy

2012 Exploration

Prior to 2012 the Megamine Project targeted medium 
depth resources between 1,000 metres and 2,500 metres 
below surface, predominantly within the West Vlakfontein 
and Spaarwater areas. Following the incorporation of the 
Wit Nigel tenement area into the Megamine Project, the 
geological knowledge and models developed at Megamine 
were utilised to identify prospective shallow targets up-dip 
of the original Megamine Project. A substantial amount of 
historical mining and exploration data was sourced for the Wit 
Nigel property, facilitating the refinement and extension of the 
existing Megamine geological model. Data capture and quality 
assurance/quality control of historical data from Wit Nigel 
was coupled with an exploration programme including surface 
drilling, surface and underground mapping and sampling, all 
aimed at delineating shallow Nigel Reef resources. The total 

exploration expenditure incurred on the Megamine Project 
during 2012 amounted to ZAR 21.78 million.

Summary of historic data captured for the Wit Nigel area

HISTORICAL DATA CAPTURED NO. OF ENTRIES

On-Reef Pegs1 6 595

Underground Sampling Data1

Stope 5 562

Development 12 997

Boreholes and Deflections

Kimberley Reefs 16

Nigel Reef 25
1 Nigel Reef only. 
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Drilling 

A total of 39 new exploration boreholes have been drilled in the Wit Nigel prospecting area since 2010 and have largely focused 
on the three most prospective shallow target areas, referred to as the: 

• Maraisdrift Shaft area
• Poortjie 1-3 Incline area 
• Houtpoort 4 Shaft area

Pictured below is the Wit Nigel prospecting area highlighting the location of drilling targets, boreholes drilled and historic mining 
centres. Shallow targets less than 1,000 metres below surface are indicated by the light grey contours. Drilling target areas are 
delineated by yellow borders. Of the total 39 boreholes completed, two intersected fault loss zones and 10 were not included in 
the following figures due to poor core recovery. These are not considered representative for modelling purposes.
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Summary of borehole assay results 

BH ID* REEF
DEPTH BOTTOM 

CONTACT (m)

DIP CORRECTED

CHANNEL THICKNESS (cm)** g/t*** cmg/t

SPNR1 Nigel 621.97 57 37.55 2 145

SPNR1_1D Nigel 621.95 65 11.59 754

SPNR1_2D Nigel 621.79 54 17.81 965

SPNR1_3D Nigel 621.99 49 8.69 428

SPNR1_4D Nigel 622.13 56 10.83 608

Average: 56 17.39 980

SPNR3 Nigel 437.51 18 1.69 30

SPNR3_1D Nigel 437.86 15 52.92 782

SPNR3_2D Nigel 437.44 12 0.44 5

SPNR3_3D Nigel 437.66 27 4.90 130

Average: 18 13.36 237

SPNR5 Nigel 528.82 24 0.10 2

SPNR5_1D Nigel 528.88 20 1.12 22

SPNR5_3D Nigel 528.52 10 0.02 0

Average: 18 0.46 8

SPNR6 Nigel 418.81 33 5.66 184

SPNR6_1D Nigel 418.93 31 8.18 250

SPNR6_2D Nigel 418.79 30 5.62 166

SPNR6_3D Nigel 418.86 31 11.14 341

Average: 31 7.61 235

GG1 Nigel 594.62 14 0.58 8

GG1_1D Nigel 594.83 12 0.88 10

GG1_2D Nigel 594.66 9 0.62 5

GG1_3D Nigel 594.42 10 1.18 12

Average: 11 0.80 9

GG2_1D Nigel 235.34 14 26.70 387

GG2_2D Nigel 235.32 14 58.80 852

Average: 14 42.75 619

GG3 Nigel 884.97 157 9.74 1 524

GG3_2D Nigel 884.15 179 4.77 853

GG3_3D Nigel 884.43 89 3.76 336

Average: 142 6.38 904

GG4 Nigel 410.56 11 0.68 7

GG4_1D Nigel 412.02 15 49.01 724

GG4_2D Nigel 410.56 13 0.22 3

Average: 13 19.34 245

GG6 Nigel 367.74 11 1.45 16

GG6_2D Nigel 367.75 16 1.21 19

GG6_4D Nigel 367.53 10 1.50 15

Average: 12 1.36 16

GG7 Nigel 375.35 87 0.72 63

GG7_1D Nigel 375.36 90 0.91 81

GG7_2D Nigel 375.21 96 1.01 97

GG7_3D Nigel 375.42 93 1.16 108

GG7_5D Nigel 375.52 91 0.43 39

Average: 91 0.85 78



Goliath Gold Mining Limited

 | 15 

BH ID* REEF
DEPTH BOTTOM 

CONTACT (m)

DIP CORRECTED

CHANNEL THICKNESS (cm)** g/t*** cmg/t
GG10_1D Nigel 267.73 12 4.71 56

GG10_2D Nigel 267.67 13 15.80 202

GG10_4D Nigel 267.60 19 1.21 23

Average: 15 6.40 94

GG11_1D Nigel 235.48 20 7.01 141

GG11_3D Nigel 236.13 18 1.25 23

GG11_5D Nigel 235.85 24 10.80 264

Average: 21 6.90 143

GG12 Nigel 143.77 12 3.11 36

GG12_1D Nigel 143.63 10 1.13 11

GG12_3D Nigel 143.53 10 3.97 41

Average: 11 2.72 30

GG40_1D Nigel 126.29 14 20.70 280

GG40_2D Nigel 126.38 14 29.70 430

GG40_3D Nigel 126.43 16 19.40 317

Average: 15 23.17 342

GG41 Nigel 171.48 11 7.19 78

GG41_1D Nigel 171.43 12 3.17 37

GG41_2D Nigel 171.48 11 0.67 7

GG41_3D Nigel 171.47 13 3.48 44

Average: 12 3.61 42

GG42_1D Nigel 92.41 26 317.00 8 185

GG42_3D Nigel 92.45 26 14.00 359

Average: 26 164.31 4 272

GG44 Nigel 178.90 36 0.08 3

GG44_1D Nigel 179.10 37 0.35 13

GG44_3D Nigel 178.51 36 16.60 593

GG44_5D Nigel 179.48 37 1.71 63

Average: 36 4.64 168

GG45 Nigel 390.69 47 4.77 225

GG45_1D Nigel 390.56 48 3.11 150

GG45_2D Nigel 389.35 47 2.86 135

GG45_3D Nigel 390.81 47 3.33 156

Average: 47 3.51 167

HP1 Nigel 74.96 12 2.87 34

Average: 12 2.87 34

HP2 Nigel 68.76 53 7.41 390

HP2_1D Nigel 69.01 52 3.71 191

Average: 52 5.59 291

HP4 Nigel 61.15 12 0.26 3

Average: 12 0.26 3

PO1 Nigel 38.83 8 0.54 5

Average: 8 0.54 5

PO5 Nigel 69.37 12 1.15 14

Average: 12 1.15 14
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BH ID* REEF
DEPTH BOTTOM 

CONTACT (m)

DIP CORRECTED

CHANNEL THICKNESS (cm)** g/t*** cmg/t
PO6 Nigel 89.77 10 4.47 43

Average: 10 4.47 43

PO11 Nigel 44.85 20 0.10 2

Average: 20 0.10 2

PO13 Nigel 135.41 11 3.73 40

Average: 11 3.73 40

* Only includes boreholes with acceptable core recovery and completed quality assurance/quality control processes, including acceptable assay 

results associated with blanks, duplicates and certified reference materials. Of the total 39 boreholes 12 boreholes were not valid owing to fault 

intersections or poor core recovery.
** True dip corrected thicknesses. Dip corrections based on dip measurements from core bedding angles.
*** Average weighted grade over the true thickness of the total reef (individual sample lengths are typically between 15 centimetres and 30 centimetres).

Surface and Underground Mapping

Recent mapping of the Nigel Reef outcrop in the Wit Nigel prospecting area resulted in the acquisition of detailed lithological and 
structural data. This information has been compiled into a database that has been utilised to improve the definition of the Nigel 
Reef’s outcrop position and geological model, guide the exploration drilling programme, and enhance the definition of potential 
open cast areas. Suitable Nigel Reef outcrop localities have been subsequently selected for indicative sampling. Due to the often 
poorly exposed (incomplete) outcrop, surface sampling was not considered suitably representative for the purposes of resource 
estimation and was utilised for geological modelling purposes only.

Underground reconnaissance mapping has also been undertaken on the shallower, unflooded portion of the Houtpoort Payshoot 
to define the nature of the mined-out horizon as well as to investigate potential shallow mining targets. The mined horizon 
represents a moderately mineralised, multi-banded, medium-pebble conglomerate with a quartzitic footwall and hanging 
wall. The conglomerate is channelised with channel widths between 0.2 metres and 0.7 metres, and consequently displays 
considerable lateral variation. A northwest-southeast trending reverse fault flanks the western edge of the Erosion Channel, 
giving rise to a geological or reef gain. A significant number of Nigel Reef blocks within the existing mined area are considered 
to potentially still be available for mining. Although the current water level, which is about 120 metres below surface, has 
restricted reconnaissance work below this depth, the total water volume is not significant. Pending the awarding of the required 
environmental permits, Houtpoort could be readily dewatered to allow further access.
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Pictured below is the No. 4 Winze geological cross-section detailing the relationship between the Erosion Channel and the 
overlying multi-banded Nigel Reef.

Geological Model

The regional and holistic modelling approach undertaken by Goliath Gold at its Megamine Project has been facilitated by the 
amalgamation of historically independent mines. This has led to the acquisition and capturing of more than 100,000 sampling 
values throughout the East Rand Basin. This immense database, coupled with the company’s ongoing exploration programme, 
has facilitated the definition of a robust geological model for Megamine’s Nigel Reef in the distal reaches of the Central Rand 
Deposition Basin. 

This geological model accounts for economic gold concentrations in this distal regime some 40 kilometres to 60 kilometres 
down the palaeoslope from an inferred sediment source. Rigorous studies undertaken during 2012 have demonstrated that 
grades in Megamine are governed by an intricate balance between palaeo-flow regimes, syn-depositional faulting and folding, 
and palaeotopography. The essential premise of the model is that gold is derived locally by cannibalisation of low-grade footwall 
beds, relatively enriching the gold in the residual lag on the pediment. The process is more pronounced where upwarping occurs 
rapidly on anticlines. The erosive pediment is preserved by an alluvial fan (single-band, sheet-wash facies) and or marine/braided 
river system in Wit Nigel (multi-band, aggradational facies). The gold is locally redistributed within the aforementioned facies 
according to local flow regime and structural controls. 

The development of this innovative geological model and associated understanding of the controls on gold grade distribution 
have both enhanced the confidence of the updated Megamine mineral resource estimate and provided critical guidance for 
future exploration activities. 

In addition to the Nigel Reef the geological model for the UK9A and BPM has also been revisited. Based on newly acquired and 
captured regional data, higher grade payshoot distribution and continuity for the Kimberley Reefs throughout the East Rand 
Basin have been more confidently modelled. This modelling has confirmed previous geological models that underpinned the BPM 
mineral resource estimate previously declared in the Vlakfontein and West Vlakfontein area, and also serves to refine ongoing 
target identification for future exploration activities. 
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Megamine Mineral Resource Update

On the premise of the geological modelling undertaken, geological domains for the Nigel Reef considered in 2010 have been 
substantially refined and projected into the up-dip Wit Nigel mining area. In total, 16 domains were defined and underpinned 
mineral resource estimations. 

Total mineral resources have decreased marginally by 4% from 12.65 million ounces (including 86.17 million tonnes grading at 
4.57 grams per tonne) in 2010 to 12.19 million ounces (including 82.07 million tonnes grading at 4.62 grams per tonne). Total 
indicated mineral resources have increased by 21% to 3.64 million ounces (including 25.62 million tonnes grading at 4.42 grams 
per tonne) while inferred mineral resources have decreased by 10% to 8.56 million ounces (including 56.45 million tonnes 
grading at 4.72 grams per tonne). 

The primary differences between the 2010 and 2012 mineral resource estimates include the refined geological modelling 
undertaken on the increased data set acquired, specifically in the Wit Nigel area, the application of higher cut-off grades 
(increased from 250 centimetre grams per tonne to 300 centimetre grams per tonne) associated with anticipated higher mining 
costs and the inclusion of the Wit Nigel area into the Megamine Project mineral resources. Furthermore, the following specific 
points are of relevance for the Nigel Reef resource reconciliation:

• The indicated resources previously defined for the Sub Nigel mining right have been excluded from the 2012 resource 
estimate. In late 2011 Sub Nigel was placed on care and maintenance due to the flooding of the Sub Nigel 1 Shaft, associated 
with the cessation of pumping at the adjacent Grootvlei Mine. As such, these resources are currently inaccessible and have 
thus been excluded from the mineral resource estimate. 

• Domain 7d was previously classified as an inferred mineral resource. Due to the higher cut-off grades applied, as well as 
revised geological modelling, this domain has been classified as an exploration target area and is thus excluded from the 
inferred mineral resource estimate. 

• Wit Nigel, including Houtpoort, represents additional resources considered in the 2012 estimates: 
o Additional inferred resources are estimated in domains 7a and 8 as well as the down-dip extensions of Houtpoort 
o Additional indicated resources are estimated for Wit Nigel in the Maraisdrift Florida 9 Shaft area (domain 7a) and 

areas immediately adjacent to the 7 Shaft and Poortjie 1-3 Incline (domains 10, 11, 12 and 13). The bulk of the 
remaining resources in the Houtpoort area, which are in close proximity to historical mining, are also classified as 
indicated resources.

• A more conservative approach to defining future water pillars around areas of historic mining has been applied that has 
increased the amount of sterilised resource in the Spaarwater area (domain 6a).

• Geological losses have been increased from 15% to 20% for inferred mineral resources.

In addition, the 2010 inferred BPM mineral resource estimate was reviewed. Two adjustments to the resources were made, 
namely, the application of and reporting at a higher cut-off grade (increased from 250 centimetre grams per tonne to 300 
centrimetre grams per tonne) to account for anticipated higher mining costs and application of a higher geological loss factor 
(increased from 15% to 20%). The application of an increased geological loss reduced the mineral resource estimate by 5%, while 
a higher cut-off grade resulted in a further 16% decrease in the total content. The BPM mineral resource thus decreased by 21% 
from 2.12 million ounces to 1.68 million ounces, with an accompanying 12% increase in grade from 4.25 grams per tonne to 4.74 
grams per tonne.

Importantly these changes to the Megamine mineral resources have also resulted in a substantial change to the total depth 
profile of Goliath Gold’s mineral resources. Significant additional shallower mineral resources have been defined and will form 
the immediate future focus of the Megamine exploration activities. These shallower ounces provide the company with an 
opportunity to fast-track economic studies with a view to defining potential mineral reserves in the shorter term, pending the 
outcome of these studies. This approach will significantly reduce exploration risks and allow the company to systematically turn 
to account this substantial resource base.
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Pictured below are the domain definitions for the Megamine Project area. Domains 7a to 13 and Houtpoort (“HP”) delineate the 
extent of domains for the most prospective shallow targets.
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Megamine Mineral Resource Estimate 1 

 TONNES GRADE GOLD CONTENT

  (Mt) (g/t) (Moz)

Indicated Nigel Reef    

 Domain 5 6.67 4.56 0.98

 Domain 7a 4.68 4.04 0.61

 Domain 10 2.44 4.03 0.32

 Domain 11 1.39 4.54 0.20

 Domain 12 0.07 3.53 0.01

 Domain 13 8.43 4.53 1.23

 Houtpoort 1.94 4.76 0.30

 Total Indicated 25.62 4.42 3.64

Inferred Nigel Reef    

 Domain 6a 0.50 3.18 0.05

 Domain 7a 3.13 4.06 0.41

 Domain 7b and Domain 7c 13.04 5.19 2.18

  Domain 8 28.10 4.61 4.16

 Houtpoort 0.67 3.63 0.08

 Nigel Reef Inferred 45.44 4.71 6.88

 Big Pebble Marker    

 Domain 1 1.69 3.87 0.21

 Domain 2 5.60 5.09 0.92

 Domain 3 3.73 4.62 0.55

 Big Pebble Marker Inferred 11.01 4.74 1.68

 Total Inferred 56.45 4.72 8.56

Total Indicated and Inferred² 82.07 4.62 12.19

1 Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability. Mineral resources are reported in accordance with 
SAMREC guidelines. Cut-off values have been calculated using a gold price of ZAR 450,000/kg (US$ 1,750/oz and an exchange rate of ZAR 8 : US$ 1). 
A cut-off of 300 cmg/t has been used to report these mineral resources.
2 Totals may not appear additive due to rounding.
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Spatial distribution of 2010 and 2012 Nigel Reef inferred and indicated resources.
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2012 Resource versus Depth Below Surface

2010 Resource versus Depth Below Surface

Planned Activities for 2013

Future exploration activities are aimed at enhancing the substantial mineral resource base estimated during 2012 by advancing 
these resources up the value curve through additional drilling and the application of economic studies. Two priority areas have 
been identified, namely the Wit Nigel 7 and 9 Shaft complex and the Houtpoort Payshoot. 

Considering the channelised nature of the Nigel Reef at the Wit Nigel 7 and 9 Shaft complex, eight additional boreholes are 
planned to the northwest of the 7 Shaft infrastructure and in close proximity to high-grade historically mined areas. This drilling 
aims to delineate the northwestern extension of the 7 Shaft Payshoot. The results of this drilling will be integrated with the 
shallower drilling already completed in the Maraisdrift 9 Shaft area and an economic scoping study will be completed. The 
scoping study will consider both new mining infrastructure as well as the use of existing infrastructure, specifically the existing 
West Spaarwater Shaft, which intersects Nigel Reef at a depth of 1,517 metres. 

The Houtpoort Channel was mined between 1933 and 1965 and considered economic pay limit grades significantly higher than 
what can be achieved in the present day economic climate. Importantly, the Houtpoort target extends from surface to depths of 
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approximately 1,000 metres with access from both surface and three vertical shafts. Additional drilling is required to enhance the 
geological model of the Houtpoort Payshoot and a total of seven boreholes have been planned for 2013 to increase confidence 
levels in the existing mineral resource as well as test possible extensions to the already modelled channel area. Pending the 
outcome of these exploration activities, a pre-feasibility study is envisaged.

In addition, possible outcropping Black Reef (“BR”) has been identified on the Spaarwater property. This target will be tested 
initially through a trenching exercise and, pending the results of the trenching, a follow up shallow drilling programme is envisaged.

Pictured below is an overview of exploration targets in the Megamine Project area.
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Project Elephant

In August 2012 Goliath Gold was granted eight contiguous prospecting rights for heavy minerals and rare earths in the Western 
Cape in the district of Vredendal. Goliath Gold excluded certain areas from the initial application as these areas have been 
purchased by Eskom, South Africa’s electricity public utility, for the purposes of constructing wind farms. The rights were granted 
for a period of two years to allow Goliath Gold to carry out non-invasive prospecting activities.

Summary of the legal tenure of mineral rights

PROJECT DMR REFERENCE
MINING TITLE 

NUMBER

PERIOD OF 
RIGHT 

(YEARS)
DATE OF GRANTING/

RENEWAL HECTARES

Elephant 28 WC 397 PR 142/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 5 555.0096

Elephant 29 WC 398 PR 143/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 881.9415

Elephant 30 WC 399 PR 151/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 3 296.9910

Elephant 31 WC 400 PR 144/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 2 867.3629

Elephant 32 WC 401 PR 152/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 11 170.2755

Elephant 33 WC 402 PR 145/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 2 151.8173

Elephant 34 WC 403 PR 153/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 1 064.9990

Elephant 35 WC 405 PR 146/2012 PR 2 Granted 3 August 2012 5 478.8578

Total 32 467.2546

Heavy mineral sand deposits occur prominently along the coastal regions of South Africa. Titanium- and zircon-bearing sands 
are mined on a large scale by Exxaro Resources’ Namakwa Sands Mine to the north of the project area and the Tormin Mineral 
Sands Project has recently been granted a mining licence to commence mining of heavy minerals on the beaches adjacent to 
Project Elephant. 
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To date Project Elephant has been investigated by the company through desktop studies only. During 2012, a total of 408 historic 
hardcopy borehole logs were electronically captured and maps of historical aerial geophysical surveys were geo-referenced and 
utilised for modelling purposes. A geological model has been established for the area that considers two major source areas 
representing heavy minerals derived from the east via fluvial systems, and heavy minerals derived from coastal long-shore 
drift. Pictured below is a locality plan of available borehole information for Project Elephant and adjacent heavy mineral sand 
operations.

The company is not aware of any historical mineral resource estimates on the property and based on the available data an 
economic viability investigation will be conducted during 2013. This study will include analysing the existing data in 3D to 
determine potential economic mineralised horizons. If favourable, this will be followed up by aerial geophysical surveys for the 
portions of the prospecting rights not covered by historical surveys and future resource drilling of identified priority targets. 
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The overall competent person for Goliath Gold is Mr Quartus 
Meyer. The information in this annual report that relates to 
exploration results is based on information compiled by 
Mr Meyer for the purposes of the SAMREC Code. The 
information in this annual report that relates to mineral 
resources is based on information compiled by Dr Carina 
Lemmer.

The Competent Person for Goliath Gold’s exploration results 
is Mr Meyer, who has a master’s degree in science (geology) 
and who is a professional natural scientist registered with 
the South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions 
(“SACNASP”) membership number 400063/88, and resides at 
27 Mynhardt van Graan Street, Hennenman, 9445. Mr Meyer 
is Vice President: Exploration and is a fulltime employee of 
Gold One, which has entered into a management agreement 
with Goliath Gold. Mr Meyer has 26 years’ experience relevant 
to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under 
consideration, and to the activity which he is undertaking, 
to qualify as a Competent Person for the purposes of the 
SAMREC Code.

The Competent Person for Goliath Gold’s mineral resources 
is Dr Lemmer, who has a doctorate in applied earth sciences 
(geostatistics) and who is a professional natural scientist 
registered with SACNASP, membership number 400021/03, 
and resides at 15 Chiselhurst Drive, Rossmore, 2092.  

Dr Lemmer is an independent consultant to Goliath Gold, 
and has been an independent consultant to the South African 
mining industry for the past 23 years. Dr Lemmer has 35 
years’ experience in resource estimation relevant to the style 
of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, 
and to the activity which she is undertaking, to qualify as a 
Competent Person for the purposes of the SAMREC Code.

Mr Meyer and Dr Lemmer consent to the inclusion in this 
annual report of the matters based on information compiled 
by themselves in the form and context in which they appear.

Mr Meyer

28 March 2013

COMPETENT PERSONS’ 
STATEMENT
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Mark Wheatley (51)
Non-Executive Chairman
BE (Chem ENG Hons 1), MBA

A former managing director and CEO of BMA Gold, the 
predecessor company to Gold One, Mark has previously 
served as CEO of TSX-listed uranium miner Southern Cross 
Resources, where he later acted as chairman. Mark is a former 
non-executive chairman of Norton Gold Fields and of Gold 
One, and has served as a non-executive director for St Barbara 
as well as for Uranium One. 

Mark’s early career includes 17 years with BHP Billiton, 
where he was involved in technical, commercial, planning 
and business development roles. This was followed by 
three years at Bankers Trust Australia in project finance, risk 
management and relationship management. Mark thereafter 
spent three years with Gold Fields, where he was responsible 
for corporate development, and served extended periods as 
acting managing director prior to the merger with Delta Gold, 
which resulted in the creation of Aurion Gold. 

Keith Rayner (56)
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman and 
Lead Independent Director
BCom, CTA, CA(SA)

Keith qualified as a chartered accountant in 1986 and has 
gained experience in corporate finance since 1987. Employed 
within the HSBC Investment Banking Group until 2002, Keith 
has advised numerous listed companies on various corporate 
finance transactions and continues to advise certain clients 
on a selective basis through KA Rayner Presentations, which 
specialises in corporate finance, regulatory advice and training 
presentations.

Keith is a past chairman of JSE-listed mineral company Afgem 
and has substantial experience in board and governance 
issues; he is also a member of the JSE Issuer Services 
Advisory Committee. Keith currently presents the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the Takeover Regulations on the Directors 
Induction Programme of the Alternative Exchange of the JSE, 
and teaches and examines candidates on the JSE’s Sponsor 
Development Programme. Keith holds directorships with 
Sibanye Gold and John Daniel Holdings. 

Keith has sat on various committees and working groups that 
compiled and re-edited both the SAMREC Code and the South 
African Code for the Reporting of Mineral Asset Valuation 
(“SAMVAL Code”), and has assisted the former Securities 
Regulation Panel in rewriting the Takeover Regulations for the 
2008 Companies Act. Keith was also a member of the King 
III sub-committee, which wrote the governance principles for 
takeovers and mergers in 2009, and is a past member of the 
Accounting Practices Committee.

Jerry Vilakazi (52)

Independent Non-Executive Director
BA, MA, MBA

Jerry is currently the non-executive chairman of Netcare, 
the largest private healthcare group in South Africa, and 
holds non-executive directorships that include PPC, Sibanye 
Gold and Palama Investments. Jerry has served on the King 
Committee on Corporate Governance, the National Anti-Cor-
ruption Forum, Business Against Crime, the SADC Employers’ 
Group, the EU-Southern Africa Business Council as well as on 
various international business councils.

Jerry is a former CEO of Business Unity South Africa and has 
also served as a managing director of the Black Management 
Forum. Jerry was previously appointed to the National 
Planning Commission and to the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Advisory Council by President Jacob Zuma, 
and is a former member of the Public Service Commission. 

DIRECTORATE
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Piet Nel (71)

Independent Non-Executive Director
BSC, AEP

Piet held various positions within Stilfontein Gold Mining 
for 11 years, including that of chief geologist and planning 
manager, and thereafter joined Gencor where he functioned 
as project leader for the company’s anthracite exploration. 
In 1982 Piet founded his own company, Geocapro Services, 
which continues to operate as a geological contracting 
concern to mining and exploration companies. In 1987 Piet 
began a 15-year long managing directorship of the Geocapro 
Magnesite Mine based in the Limpopo Valley and, during 
the following year, he also began a 14-year long managing 
directorship of Venmag, a magnesia mining company. Piet has 
served as executive director of East Rand gold miner Petrex, 
which was sold to Bema Gold in 2002, and also served as 
managing director of Petrex for a period of two years.

Piet is the founder of Petmin, a South African mining and 
processing company that was formerly known as Petra, 
where he served as non-executive chairman for a period of 
20 years. Piet currently serves as chairman of Petmin’s 
Technical Advisory and Review Committee.

Richard Stewart (37)

CEO
BSc (Hons), PHD (Geology)

Richard has over 15 years’ experience in South Africa’s 
geological and mining industries and is a professional natural 
scientist registered with SACNASP. A former investment 
consultant for African Global Capital SA, Richard has also held 
management positions at Uranium One, Shango Solutions 
and CSIR Mining Technology.

Richard currently serves as executive vice president: technical 
services for Gold One and played an instrumental role in 
the creation of Goliath Gold. Richard has also served on the 
Goliath Gold Executive Committee since its inception.

Christopher Chadwick (44)
CFO
BCompt (Hons), CTA, CA(SA)

Christopher qualified as a chartered accountant in 1991 and 
joined Aflease Gold as CFO in July 2008. In May 2009 he was 
appointed as CFO of Gold One; a position which he continues 
to fulfil. In December 2012 Christopher was appointed as 
acting CEO of Gold One in addition to his role as CFO. 

Christopher has held executive positions in a wide range 
of industries both with local South African companies and 
multinationals, including Commercial Airways, New Age 
Beverages, The Kelly Group, Leo Burnett, Dell Computers and 
the Peu Group. 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT
PREAMBLE

Goliath Gold, a subsidiary of Gold One Africa, is an exploration 
and development company with two fulltime employees. The 
CEO, CFO and company secretary are employed by Gold One 
and, save for share options, do not receive any remuneration 
from the company. During the period under review, Goliath 
Gold completed the acquisition of Gold One’s Megamine 
business, and the mandatory offer by Gold One to the 
Goliath Gold shareholders to acquire Gold One shares in lieu 
of their Goliath Gold shares also closed. With the aforesaid 
transactions behind it, Goliath Gold has begun focussing on 
developing new and simplified governance structures founded 
on the core principles of honesty, integrity, accountability 
and transparency read in conjunction with the principles and 
recommendations set out in King III, the requirements of 
the Companies Act 71 of 2008 (the “Companies Act”) and in 
compliance with the JSE Listing Requirements.

At Goliath Gold, corporate governance is a way of life rather 
than a set of rigid rules and, as such, Goliath Gold is fully 
committed to applying good corporate governance principles 
and implementing the principles and recommended practices 
of King III. The company intends undertaking a full gap analysis 
in 2013 to determine the extent to which Goliath Gold has 
applied the principles and recommended practices in King 
III and those principles which will require further attention. 
The company will also identify areas where the current 
governance practices can be enhanced and will thereafter 
take the necessary steps to implement a plan to meet those 
requirements. 

The company is finalising its King III application register, 
which will be made available on the company’s website in the 
near future.

The board has approved a new Memorandum of Incorporation 
that complies with the Companies Act and JSE Listing 
Requirements, and has been approved by the JSE, and will 
seek shareholder approval for same at the Annual General 
Meeting (“AGM”).

BOARD ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The company is governed by a unitary board which, as at 
31 December 2012, was made up of six members, three of 
whom were independent and two of whom were executive 
directors. The board discharges its duties in compliance with 

its policy requiring one director: one vote, with the chairman 
having a casting vote, and no director having unfettered 
powers of decision making.

The board is responsible for strategy, strategic decision making 
and assessment of its own execution. The board recognises 
that strategy performance, sustainability and risk are 
inseparable. It is also responsible for its own governance such 
as the rotation of directors, training of directors, management 
of conflicts of interest and nominations to the board. It is 
responsible for the governance of the company on behalf of 
its shareholders. It performs this duty within a framework 
of policies and procedures. It also has an important role in 
setting ethical standards of conduct. 

The roles of chairman and CEO are separate and distinct 
as required by King III. Mark Wheatley, the chairman of the 
board, was not regarded as independent by reason of the fact 
that up to and until 30 December 2012 he also served as a 
director on the board of Gold One, which indirectly through 
its wholly owned subsidiary Gold One Africa is the holding 
company of Goliath Gold. As a consequence, Keith Rayner 
was appointed lead independent non-executive director and 
deputy chairman in line with King III. With the appointment 
of Piet Nel as chairman with effect from the AGM on 30 April 
2013, the need for a lead independent director will fall away.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Non-executive directors provide an independent perspective 
and complement the skills and experience of executive 
directors. They objectively assess strategy, budgets, 
performance, resources and reserves, transformation, 
employment equity and sustainable development. 
Collectively, the board believes that the current mix of 
knowledge, skill and experience meets the requirements to 
lead Goliath Gold.

During the year under review the board composition did not 
comply with King III in that, inter alia, there was not a majority 
of independent non-executive directors. This situation will 
be remedied in April 2013 following the AGM. As advised 
on the JSE news service (“SENS”) announcement dated 
24 January 2013, Mark Wheatley will retire as a director at the 
AGM and Piet Nel will take up the position of independent 
non-executive chairman.
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ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

In terms of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 
one-third of the directors are required to retire from office 
at every AGM. The directors who will retire at the AGM on 
30 April 2013 are Mark Wheatley and Jerry Vilakazi, but only 
Jerry Vilakazi will seek re-election to the board.

Following the AGM, the board will be constituted as follows:

• Piet Nel: independent non-executive chairman
• Keith Rayner: independent non-executive director
• Jerry Vilakazi: independent non-executive director
• Richard Stewart: CEO
• Christopher Chadwick: CFO

The appointment of new directors will follow a formal and 
transparent process, outlined below. The appointments are 
ultimately approved by the board and shareholders.

The board has delegated authority to the Corporate 
Governance and Nominations Committee to periodically 
assess the skills required having regard to the strategic 
objectives of the company. The assessment is made available 
to the board. The committee, when it considers it appropriate, 
but in any event whenever a director retires, assesses the skills 
represented on the board by the remaining non-executive 
directors and, if they do not meet the required skills identified, 
determines how to rectify the position. The committee, 
having regard to skills required and the skills represented, 
implements a process for the identification of suitable 
candidates. The committee must ensure that all candidates 
are free of any conflict of interest and provide the board 
with a report confirming same. The Corporate Governance 
and Nominations Committee must make recommendations 
to the board on candidates it considers appropriate and the 
board, after assessing the candidates, must arrange interviews 
between nominated board members and the candidates. 
The board as a whole must approve the final candidate. 
The company secretary is responsible for ensuring that all 
statutory and regulatory requirements are complied with and 
that new directors are properly inducted.

DIRECTORS’ CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In terms of the Companies Act and King III, directors must avoid 
a situation where a director has a direct or indirect interest 
that conflicts or may possibly conflict with the interests of 
the company. The board has established procedures to enable 
directors to notify the company of actual or potential conflict 
situations. If a director finds that a conflict of interest is 
unavoidable, he must disclose same and recuse himself from 
any decisions where the conflict may impair his judgement. 

BOARD EFFECTIVENESS

Having regard to the fact that the directors on the board 
as currently constituted have only served for a short while, 
coupled with the resignation of the CEO at the end of 

December 2012 and the pending retirement of the chairman 
at the AGM, the board did not conduct an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the board and its committees at the end of 
2012. The focus in 2013 will be on developing a performance 
measuring process and evaluating whether or not to conduct 
an in-house or independent review at the end of 2013.

ENGAGING WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The board is responsible for communicating effectively with 
shareholders and has made the CEO and CFO responsible 
for regularly engaging with shareholders and potential 
shareholders.

As an exploration and development company, going 
forward Goliath Gold will in particular focus on developing a 
stakeholder engagement policy, which will guide the company 
on engaging with its employees and the communities within 
which it operates, and provide a platform for employees 
and members of the surrounding communities to raise their 
concerns and have meaningful discussions with management.

BOARD GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board reserves certain matters for its own 
decision-making and delegates certain matters and 
responsibilities to four standing committees, i.e. the Audit 
Committee (incorporating the Risk Committee), the 
Remuneration Committee, the Social and Ethics Committee 
(incorporating the Corporate Governance and Nominations 
Committee) and the Health, Safety, Environment and 
Sustainable Development Committee.

The CEO, together with the Executive Committee, operates 
within a framework that governs the authority levels at all 
levels of management.

Each committee, in conjunction with the board, is in the 
process of approving new charters which, when approved, 
will be made available on the company’s website. All board 
committees are chaired by an independent non-executive 
director and, save for the Health, Safety, Environment and 
Sustainable Development Committee on which an executive 
director is required to serve, comprise non-executive directors 
only.

The chairman of each committee is required to submit reports 
and make recommendations to the board at each quarterly 
board meeting. All committee minutes are included in the 
quarterly board packs provided to board members prior to 
board meetings. 

Having regard to the size of the board and the current status 
of the company, the board has decided not to establish a 
separate Risk Committee. This function has been delegated to 
the Audit Committee along with the internal audit function.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the board in 
discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, 
the operation of adequate systems, financial control and 
reporting processes, and the preparation of accurate financial 
reports and financial statements in compliance with all 
applicable legal requirements and accounting standards. The 
committee also provides a forum for discussing the risk profile 
and risk management of the company. 

The Audit Committee’s purpose is to:

• Evaluate the performance, independence and 
effectiveness of the external auditors and to consider 
whether any non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors substantively undermine their independence as 
external auditors

• Discuss and review with the external auditors their 
engagement letter and the terms, scope and nature of the 
audit function, procedure and engagement, as well as the 
audit fee

• Review interim and annual results and any financial 
reports

• The committee is also responsible for risk and internal 
audit. 

As at 31 December 2012, the Audit Committee members were:

• Keith Rayner (chairman)
• Piet Nel
• Jerry Vilakazi.

All the members are independent non-executive directors and 
are suitably skilled to serve on the committee. 

The Audit Committee held four meetings during 2012.

The external auditors, CEO, CFO and senior financial manager 
are invited to all the Audit Committee meetings. 

The external auditors are accredited with the JSE.

The Audit Committee confirms that the expertise and 
experience of the CFO has been considered, and the 
committee is satisfied with the appropriateness thereof.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for overseeing 
the administration of the company’s remuneration strategy, 
including its share option and other equity-based incentive 
plans, discharge the board’s responsibilities with respect to 
the remuneration of the CEO, its other executive officers and 
directors.

As at 31 December 2012 the members of the committee were:

• Piet Nel (chairman)
• Keith Rayner
• Jerry Vilakazi.

All members are independent non-executive directors.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during 
2012.

The CEO, CFO and company secretary are employed by Gold 
One and do not receive any remuneration from the company. 
As a result of the aforesaid, the committee, save for the grant 
of share options in accordance with the Goliath Gold Share 
Incentive Scheme, was not active during the period under 
review.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE 
(INCORPORATING THE CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE)

The Social and Ethics Committee, in addition to complying 
with its duties under the Companies Act, assists the board in 
the discharge of its duties and responsibilities with respect 
to the selection, nomination and appointment of members 
of the board and their appointment to board committees, 
the coordination of an annual evaluation of the board, 
its committees and individual board members and the 
development and annual review of the charters of the board 
and each board committee. 

As at 31 December 2012, the members of the Social and 
Ethics Committee (incorporating the Corporate Governance 
and Nominations Committee) were:

• Jerry Vilakazi (chairman)
• Keith Rayner
• Piet Nel.

All members are independent non-executive directors.

The Social and Ethics Committee (incorporating the 
Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee) held 
two meetings during 2012.

The committee also has to ensure that the company has 
adequate systems and procedures for the education, 
development and orderly succession of senior managers 
and, at least annually, must review the short and long-term 
succession plans for the CEO and other executive officers, and 
report to the board on succession planning.

The committee is also responsible for ensuring that directors 
and employees are prohibited from dealing in company shares 
during closed and price sensitive periods. 
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HEALTH, SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The committee assists the board in the discharge of its duties 
and responsibilities to oversee the management of policies, 
programmes and practices pertaining to occupational health 
and safety and environment and sustainable development 
matters, including initiatives to promote the empowerment 
of historically disadvantaged persons.

The committee is responsible for advancing the goals and 
objectives set out in the Broad-Based Socio-Economic 
Empowerment Charter for the South African mining 
industry and for monitoring the company’s performance 
in implementing policies, programmes and practices with 
respect to the foregoing matters, and to consider and 
recommend modifications or amendments thereto in light of 
performance or changing requirements. 

As at 31 December 2012, the members of the committee 
were:

• Piet Nel (chairman)
• Mark Wheatley
• Neal Froneman.

The Health, Safety, Environment and Sustainable 
Development Committee held two meetings during 2012.

The chairman of the committee is required to be an 
independent non-executive director and at least one member 
must be an executive director. With the resignation of Neal 
Froneman at the end of December 2012, Richard Stewart 
in his capacity as CEO and an executive director has been 
appointed to the committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Pierre Kruger is the group company secretary, duly appointed 
by the board in accordance with the Companies Act. The 
company secretary is required to support the chairman and 
the board in:

• Ensuring the effective functioning of the board
• Providing guidance to the chairman and the directors 

on their fiduciary responsibilities and duties within the 
regulatory and statutory environment

• Raising matters that may warrant the attention of the 
board.

All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary in relation to their 
responsibilities, as well as any other relevant assistance they 
may require.

The board has assessed and satisfied itself on the competence, 
qualifications and experience of the company secretary as 
required by the JSE Listing Requirements. In satisfying itself, 

the board, in closed session, took into account the following 
factors:

• Pierre holds a bachelor of commerce degree, and bachelor 
of laws degree and a higher diploma in company law

• He is an admitted attorney, notary public and conveyancer 
and practised as an attorney for 26 years 

• He served on the board of Aflease Gold, a JSE-listed 
company at the time, as a non-executive director prior to 
his appointment as company secretary of Aflease Gold in 
January 2007

• He has worked in a full time capacity as a company 
secretary since January 2007 and is also the company 
secretary of Gold One, a company registered in Australia 
with a primary listing on the ASX Limited and a secondary 
listing on the JSE.

The board has also satisfied itself that there is an arms-length 
relationship between the board and the company secretary. 
The company secretary is not a director of Goliath Gold.

INTEGRATED REPORTING

This integrated annual report represents a holistic and 
integrated representation of the Goliath Gold Group’s 
performance in terms of its finance and its sustainability for 
the year ended 31 December 2012. Given that the group is 
an exploration entity, there is currently a limited impact on 
sustainability. Accordingly, disclosure of sustainability has 
only been made where relevant and material. In 2013, there 
will be a continued focus on reporting in a manner that 
provides material information about Goliath Gold’s strategy, 
governance, performance and impacts on sustainability and 
the environments in which it operates.

SPONSOR

As required by the JSE Listings Requirements, Merchantec 
(Pty) Limited is the company’s sponsor.

JSE LISTINGS REQUIREMENTS 
COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFIC 
GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS 

The board is satisfied, insofar as it is aware, that the company 
has complied with all the specific corporate governance 
requirements contained in section 3 paragraph 3.84 of the 
JSE Listings Requirements during the financial year ended 
31 December 2012, which are evidenced elsewhere in this 
Corporate Governance Statement.
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APPLICATION OF THE KING III PRINCIPLES

NO. AREA REQUIREMENT APPLY
PARTIALLY 

APPLY
UNDER 
REVIEW COMMENTS

Ethical Leadership and Corporate Citizenship

1 1.1 The board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical foundation.

The board is in the process of adopting new charters which will be 
reviewed annually going forward. 

The board will focus on finalising a code of ethics in 2013 in compliance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act.

An ethics framework and the measurement thereof will also be 
established in 2013 as part of the risk management process.

2 1.2 The board should ensure that the company 
is and is seen to be a responsible corporate 
citizen.

The board considers quarterly at its meetings the non-financial 
performance, risks and impact of its exploration activities to all key 

stakeholders.

A stakeholder policy, which will guide the company on engagements 
with the communities within which the company operates is currently 
under consideration.

3 1.3 The board should ensure that the 
company’s ethics are managed effectively.

A baseline assessment of ethics management is being undertaken and an 
ethics policy will be tabled in 2013 for approval by the board.

Boards and Directors 

4

Role and Function 
of the Board

2.1 The board should act as the focal point for 
and custodian of corporate governance.

The board accepts responsibility as custodian for corporate governance 
and demonstrates in its meetings with and interaction with 
management that a high level of corporate governance is maintained. 

5 2.2 The board should appreciate that strategy, 
risk, performance and sustainability are 
inseparable.

The board reviews its strategy for the business on an annual basis 
and amends the strategy as events and circumstances change. The 
risks to achieving the strategy are reviewed on a quarterly basis at the 
board meetings. The group’s performance against strategic objectives, 
mitigation of risks and sustainability are discussed and monitored at the 
quarterly board meetings. 

6 2.3 The board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical foundation.

See 1.3 above.

7 2.4 The board should ensure that the company 
is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen.

See 1.3 above.

8 2.5 The board should ensure that the 
company’s ethics are managed effectively.

See 1.3 above.

9 2.6 The board should ensure that the company 
has an effective and independent Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee is established in terms of the Companies Act and 
meets quarterly. 

10 2.7 The board should be responsible for the 
governance of risk.

Having regard to the current development status of the company, the 
board has delegated the governance of risk to the Audit Committee. 

Management is in the process of assessing the materiality of the risks 
identified and developing a risk register for submission to the Audit 
Committee.

11 2.8 The board should be responsible for 
information technology (“IT”) governance.

With only two employees, Goliath Gold employees make use of the Gold 
One’s IT infrastructure and are subject to the Gold One IT governance 
framework. This IT framework complies with best practice and the IT 
Infrastructure Library (“ITIL”) framework. 

The board will continue to monitor the position and will implement a 
separate IT governance framework when circumstances warrant it. 

12 2.9 The board should ensure that the company 
complies with applicable laws and considers 
adherence to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards.

Each executive member is required to identify the regulatory universe 
the specific discipline operates within. The executive focus in 2013 
will be to document a single compliance policy for all the disciplines 
which will be tabled in 2013 for the board to consider and, following its 
adoption, will be implemented.

13 2.10 The board should ensure that there is an 
effective risk-based internal audit.

The internal audit function is currently outsourced to KPMG and 
operates under the oversight of the Audit Committee. The internal audit 
charter has been defined and approved, however, the implementation of 
the charter will take place during 2013.

14 2.11 The board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
company’s reputation.

The board in its reviews and deliberations considers all material 
stakeholder matters and perceptions in order to manage such 
perceptions and reputational risks.

15 2.12 The board should ensure the integrity of the 
company’s integrated report.

The board reviews the system of internal controls which supports the 
compilation of the integrated report.

16 2.13 The board should report on the 
effectiveness of the company’s system of 
internal controls.

The board through the Audit Committee assesses at least annually the 
effectiveness of the internal controls. 

17 2.14 The board and its directors should act in the 
best interests of the company.

The board has established procedures to enable directors to notify the 
company of actual or potential conflict situations. If a director finds 
that a conflict of interest is unavoidable, he/she must disclose same and 
recuse himself/herself from any decisions where the conflict may impair 
his/her judgement. 

18 2.15 The board should consider business 
rescue proceedings or other turnaround 
mechanisms as soon as the company is 
financially distressed as defined in the Act.

This principle has not yet been applied as the need has not yet arisen. 
The board does, however, constantly review the financial standing of 
the company, and always applies the solvency and liquidity tests in all 
business transactions as required by the Companies Act. 

19

Role and Function 
of the Board

2.16 The board should elect a chairman of the 
board who is an independent non-executive 
director. The CEO of the company should 
not also fulfil the role of chairman of the 
board.

Mark Wheatley, the current chairman, is not regarded as being 
independent by reason of the fact that he served as a non-executive 
director on the board of Goliath Gold’s holding company. Mark has given 
notice of his intention to retire at the 2013 AGM and will be replaced 
as chairman by Piet Nel, who is regarded as being independent. Keith 
Rayner was appointed lead independent director during Mark’s term of 
office. 

The roles of chairman and CEO are separate and distinct.

20
Role and Function 

of the Board

2.17 The board should appoint the CEO and 
establish a framework for the delegation 
of authority.

Richard Stewart has been appointed as CEO and the limits of authority 
have been clearly defined.



 | 35 

Goliath Gold Mining Limited

NO. AREA REQUIREMENT APPLY
PARTIALLY 

APPLY
UNDER 
REVIEW COMMENTS

21
Composition of 

the Board

2.18 The board should comprise a balance of 
power, with a majority of non-executive 
directors. The majority of non-executive 
directors should be independent.

The board consists of six members, four of whom are non-executive 
directors of which three are independent.

22
Board 

Appointment 
Process

2.19 Directors should be appointed through a 
formal process.

Director appointments are transparent and formal. Although directors 
are appointed through a formal process, the process has not yet been 
documented. The policy will be incorporated into the Social and Ethics 
Committee (which incorporates the Nominations Committee) charter 
in 2013.

23
Director 

Developments

2.20 The induction of and ongoing training 
and development of directors should be 
conducted through formal processes.

This is both an informal and formal process. New directors are made 
aware of their duties and furnished with the relevant documents. The 
new directors are also invited to visit the company’s exploration sites. 

24
Company 
Secretary

2.21 The board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced company secretary.

The company secretary is Pierre Kruger. The board has assessed and 
satisfied itself on the competency, qualifications and experience of the 
company secretary. 

25

Performance 
Assessment

2.22 The evaluation of the board, its committees 
and the individual directors should be 
performed every year.

Having regard to the fact that the directors on the board as currently 
constituted have only served for a short while, coupled with the 
resignation of the CEO at the end of December 2012 and the pending 
retirement of the chairman at the AGM, the board did not conduct an 
evaluation of the effectiveness of the board and its committees at the 
end of 2012. The focus in 2013 will be on developing a performance 
measuring process and evaluating whether or not to conduct an 
in-house or independent review at the end of 2013.

26

Board 
Committees

2.23 The board should delegate certain functions 
to well structured committees but without 
abdicating its own responsibilities.

The board has delegated certain functions to the following committees:

Audit Committee

Social and Ethics Committee (incorporating the Corporate Governance 
and Nomination Committee)

Remuneration Committee

Health, Safety, Environment and Sustainable Development Committee

The committees are required to make recommendations to the board 
regarding the functions delegated to them by the board. The board has 
access to all the minutes of the committee meetings.

27

Group Boards

2.24 A governance framework should be agreed 
between the group and its subsidiary 
boards.

Each subsidiary company operates with a separate board of directors 
and there is no formal governance framework. The majority of the 
subsidiaries are dormant and the focus in 2013 will be to de-register or 
liquidate most of the subsidiaries. A formal governance framework will 
be tabled for approval in 2013. 

28

Remuneration 
of Directors and 

Senior Executives 

2.25 Companies should remunerate directors 
and executives fairly and responsibly.

The Remuneration Committee oversees the administration of the 
company’s remuneration strategy, including its share option plans. 
Currently the CEO and other executives are remunerated by Gold One 
and receive no additional remuneration, save for share options, from 
Goliath Gold. The remuneration of non-executive directors is considered 
by the full board acting on recommendations from the Remuneration 
Committee and subsequently approved by shareholders and reported on 
in the annual report. The remuneration of the executives can be found in 
the Gold One annual report and on its website www.gold1.co.za.

29 2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual director 
and certain senior executives.

See 2.25 above.

30 2.27 Shareholders should approve the company’s 
remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy is approved by shareholders at the AGM.

Audit Committees 

31 3.1 The board should ensure that the company 
has an effective and independent Audit 
Committee.

See item 2.6 above.

32

Membership and 
Resources of the 
Audit Committee 

3.2 Audit committee members should be 
suitably skilled and experienced 
independent non-executive directors.

All the Audit Committee members are suitably skilled and experienced 
independent non-executive directors. Their respective curricula vitae 
appear on page 28 of this annual report. 

33 3.3 The Audit Committee should be chaired by 
an independent non-executive director.

The committee is chaired by Keith Rayner, an independent 
non-executive director. 

34

Responsibilities 
of the Audit 
Committee

3.4 The Audit Committee should oversee 
integrated reporting.

The Audit Committee reviews and overseas the preparation and 
disclosure contained in the annual report in terms of the integrated 
reporting guidelines and accounting standards. The board reviews and 
makes recommendations prior to its approval thereof.

35 3.5 The Audit Committee should ensure that 
a combined assurance model is applied 
to provide a coordinated approach to all 
assurance activities.

A combined assurance framework has not yet been adopted by the 
board. The focus will be on finalising same in 2013.

36

Internal 
Assurance 
Providers

3.6 The Audit Committee should satisfy itself of 
the expertise, resources and experience of 
the company’s finance function.

The expertise, resources and experience of the company’s finance 
function as well as the CFO are assessed annually by the Audit 
Committee in closed session and reported to the board. 

37 3.7 The Audit Committee should be responsible 
for overseeing of internal audit.

The internal audit function has been outsourced to KPMG and the Audit 
Committee is responsible for overseeing same.

38 3.8 The Audit Committee should be an integral 
component of the risk management 
process.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management basis on a regular 
basis and oversees that management implements appropriate control 
programmes to mitigate the identified risks. 
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NO. AREA REQUIREMENT APPLY
PARTIALLY 

APPLY
UNDER 
REVIEW COMMENTS

39
External 

Assurance 
Providers 

3.9 The Audit Committee is responsible for 
recommending the appointment of the 
external auditor and overseeing the external 
audit process.

The Audit Committee on an annual basis evaluates the external audit 
function and the auditors independence as well as non-audit fees, the 
outcome of which is reported to the board and shareholders.

40
Reporting

3.10 The Audit Committee should report to 
the board and shareholders on how it has 
discharged its duties.

The Audit Committee performs an annual self assessment of its 
performance against its mandate and reports these results to the board. 

4. The Governance of Risk

41.

Board’s 
Responsibility for 
Risk Governance

4.1 The board should be responsible for the 
governance of risk

The board has assumed ultimate responsibility for the governance of 
risk. 

Under the oversight of the board, management are developing a revised 
risk management framework and policy to be tabled for approval and 
implementation in 2013.

42. 4.2 The board should determine the levels of 
risk tolerance

See item 4.1 above.

43. 4.3 The risk committee or Audit Committee 
should assist the board in carrying out its 
risk responsibilities

Currently the Audit Committee is responsible for  assisting the board 
in carrying out its risk responsibilities. In line with the new requirement 
that a new director should serve on the Risk Committee, the Audit 
Committee will no longer be able to carry out this function and board 
will establish a separate Risk Committee.

44. Managements 
Responsibility 
for Risk 
Management

4.4 The board should delegate to management 
the responsibility to design, implement 
and monitor the risk management plan

See item 4.1 above.

45.

Risk Assessment

4.5 The board should ensure that risk 
assessments are performed on a continual 
basis

See item 4.1 above. 

46. 4.6 The board should ensure that frameworks 
and methodologies are implemented to 
increase the probability of anticipating 
unpredictable risks

See item 4.1 above.

47.
Risk Response

4.7 The board should ensure that management 
considers and implements appropriate risk 
responses

The board reviews and approves management’s plans to respond to 
identified risks. 

48.
Risk Monitoring

4.8 The board should ensure continual risk 
monitoring by management

The board monitors the performance and effectiveness of 
management’s plans to respond to identified risks. 

49.
Risk Assurance

4.9 The board should receive assurance 
regarding the effectiveness of the risk 
management process

See item 4.1 above.

50.

Risk Disclosure

4.10 The board should ensure that there are 
processes in place enabling complete, 
timely, relevant, accurate and accessible 
risk disclosure to stakeholders

See item 4.1 above.

5. The governance of information technology

51. 5.1 The board should be responsible for 
information technology (IT) governance.

With less than 10 employees, the Goliath Gold employees make use 
of the Gold One IT infrastructure and are subject to the Gold One IT 
governance framework. This IT framework complies with best practice 
and the IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL) framework.

The board will continue to monitor the position and will implement a 
separate IT governance framework when circumstances warrant it.

52. 5.2 IT should be aligned with the performance 
and sustainability objectives of the 
company

See item 5.1 above.

53. 5.3 The board should delegate to management 
the responsibility for the implementation 
of an IT governance framework

The board has delegated the responsibility for the implementation of an 
IT governance framework to the Vice President Finance. The current IT 
governance framework complies with the principals of ITIL. 

54. 5.4 The board should monitor and evaluate 
significant IT investments and expenditure

In accordance with the IT strategy, there are currently no significant 
IT investments and expenditure. This will be revised as the group’s 
exploration assets are further developed. 

55. 5.5 IT should form an integral part of the 
company’s risk management

See item 5.1 above.

56. 5.6 The board should ensure that information 
assets are managed effectively

See item 5.1 above.

57. 5.7 A risk committee and Audit Committee 
should assist the board in carrying out its 
IT responsibilities

See item 5.1 above.

6. Compliance with Laws, Rules, Codes and Standards 

58. 6.1 The board should ensure that the company 
complies with applicable laws and 
considers adherence to non-binding rules, 
codes and standards

The board where necessary seeks the advice of the company secretary, 
internal legal counsel and external advisors. 

The executive focus in 2013 will be to document a formal compliance 
policy which will be tabled for the board to consider and, following its 
adoption, will be implemented.



 | 37 

Goliath Gold Mining Limited

NO. AREA REQUIREMENT APPLY
PARTIALLY 

APPLY
UNDER 
REVIEW COMMENTS

59. 6.2 The board and each individual director 
should have a working understanding of 
the effect of the applicable laws, rules, 
codes and standards on the company and 
its business

The compliance policy will outline the legal and regulatory universe of 
the company. 

60. 6.3 Compliance risk should form an integral 
part of the company’s risk management 
process

Compliance risk forms part of the risk management process described 
in Item 4.1 above and will be included in the revised risk management 
framework.

61. 6.4 The board should delegate to management 
the implementation of an effective 
compliance framework and processes

See item 6.1 above.

7. Internal Audit 

62.

The Need for 
and Role of 
Internal Audit

7.1 The board should ensure that there is an 
effective risk based internal audit

The internal audit function is currently outsourced to KPMG and 
operates under the oversight of the Audit Committee. The internal audit 
charter has been defined and approved, however, the implementation 
of the charter will take place during 2013. Internal audit will be assisting 
management in developing a strategic risk register during 2013. No 
further internal audit duties have been carried out during 2012.

63.

Internal Audit’s 
Approach and 
Plan

7.2 Internal audit should follow a risk based 
approach to its plan

See item 7.1 above.

64. 7.3 Internal audit should provide a written 
assessment of the effectiveness of the 
company’s system of internal control and 
risk management

See item 7.1 above.

65. 7.4 The Audit Committee should be 
responsible for overseeing internal audit

See item 7.1 above.

66. Internal Audit’s 
Status in the 
Company

7.5 Internal audit should be strategically 
positioned to achieve its objectives

See item 7.1 above.

8. Governing Stakeholder Relationships 

67. 8.1 The board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect a 
company’s reputation

The board in its reviews and deliberations considers all material 
stakeholder matters and perceptions in order to manage such 
perceptions and reputational risks. 

68. 8.2 The board should delegate to management 
to proactively deal with stakeholder 
relationships

Management is required to identify key stakeholder groups and report 
to the social and ethics committee the communication processes in 
place to monitor and strengthen these relationships.

As an exploration and development company, Goliath Gold has 
adopted a stakeholder engagement policy which will guide the 
company on engaging with the communities within which it operates.

69. 8.3 The board should strive to achieve the 
appropriate balance between its various 
stakeholder groupings, in the best interests 
of the company

This aspect is carefully considered and managed given the various 
sensitivities.

70. 8.4 Companies should ensure the equitable 
treatment of shareholders

The board and management are mindful that all shareholders must be 
treated equally and endeavour not to place any shareholder’s interests 
above that of another.

71. 8.5 Transparent and effective communication 
with stakeholders is essential for building 
and maintaining their trust and confidence

The board adopted the King principles and recommendations at an 
early stage as well as transparent and effective communication in terms 
of its integrated reporting.

72.
Dispute 
Resolution

8.6 The board should ensure disputes are 
resolved as effectively, efficiently and 
expeditiously as possible

The appropriated dispute resolution clauses are inserted in both 
inter-company and third party agreements. Having regard to the size 
of the company and its operations, a specific policy has not yet been 
considered.

9. Integrated Reporting and Disclosure 

73.
Transparency 
and 
Accountability 

9.1 The board should ensure the integrity of 
the company’s integrated report

The board is focussed on the group’s strategic objectives, responding to 
stakeholder needs and ensuring conciseness reliability and materiality 
of information. The board constantly liaises with management on 
issues affecting the group. Furthermore, the board performs a thorough 
review of the integrated annual report prior to its release.

74. 9.2 Sustainability reporting and disclosure 
should be integrated with the company’s 
financial reporting

The group is currently focussed on exploration activities and has very 
few mining activities. Accordingly, extensive sustainability disclosures 
are not required at this time. Increased sustainability reporting will 
develop once the group commences expanded mining activities.

75. 9.3 Sustainability reporting and disclosure 
should be independently assured

See 9.2 above.
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The directors of Goliath Gold are responsible for the integrity 
of the annual report as a whole as well as for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of the 
company and group.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) requires 
management to consistently apply appropriate accounting 
policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates.

The directors are satisfied that the information contained in 
the financial statements fairly presents the financial position 
at year-end and the financial performance and cashflows of 
the group and company for the year under review.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accurate and 
complete accounting records are kept to enable the company 
to satisfy its obligation with respect to the preparation of 
financial statements.

The directors are also responsible for the group’s system 
of internal controls. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Goliath Gold and its subsidiaries operate in a control 
environment that incorporates risk management and internal 

control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The group Audit Committee plays an integral role in risk 
management as well as overseeing the group’s integrated 
reporting.

The going-concern basis has been adopted in preparing the 
financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe 
that the group, or any company within the group, will not be 
a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts, 
available cash resources, available banking facilities and 
financial assets held for trading. These financial statements 
support the viability of the company and the group.

The group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Incorporated, audited the company and group’s annual 
financial statements and their report is presented on page 41.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to 
all financial records and related data, including minutes 
of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and 
committees of the board. The directors believe that all rep-
resentations made to the independent auditors during their 
audit are valid and appropriate.

The financial statements were approved by the board of 
directors on 28 March 2013 and are signed on its behalf.

 Mark Wheatley   Richard Stewart

 Non-Executive Chairman CEO

STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY BY 
DIRECTORS
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STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE BY COMPANY 
SECRETARY
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, in terms of Section 
88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as 
amended, (the “Companies Act”) the company has lodged 
with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all 
such returns and notices as are required of a public company 
in terms of the Companies Act, and that all such returns and 
notices appear to be true, correct and up to date in respect of 
the financial period reported upon.

Pierre Kruger
Company Secretary
28 March 2013
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report on the consolidated entity 
consisting of Goliath Gold and the entities it controlled for 
the year ended 31 December 2012.

1. DIRECTORS

The names and details of the directors of the company in 
office during the financial year are:

NAME 
DATE OF  

APPOINTMENT 
DATE RESIGNED 

OR RETIRED

Mark Wheatley* 23 March 2011 -

Neal Froneman 23 March 2011 31 December 2012

Christopher 
Chadwick 

23 March 2011 -

Keith Rayner 23 March 2011 -

Jerry Vilakazi 21 June 2011 -

Piet Nel 29 July 2011 -

Richard Stewart 1 January 2013 -
* Mark Wheatley will retire at the 2013 AGM. 

2. DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of meetings of directors held during the year and 
the number of meetings attended by each director while they 
were directors are as follows:

NAME BOARD MEETING

Mark Wheatley 3/3

Neal Froneman 3/3

Christopher Chadwick 3/3

Keith Rayner 3/3

Jerry Vilakazi 3/3

Piet Nel 3/3

3. COMPANY SECRETARY

Pierre Kruger – BCom, LLB, H Dip Company Law

Pierre Kruger was appointed as company secretary of 
Goliath Gold in March 2011. Pierre is currently also the 
company secretary of Gold One and previously served as a 
non-executive director on the Aflease Gold board. Pierre 
practiced as an attorney, conveyancer and notary public for 
a period of 26 years prior to joining Gold One on a fulltime 
basis in January 2007.

4. MAIN BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

The company’s main business is that of a mining exploration 
company. Its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the 
resource sector. The company has a primary listing on the JSE, 
issuer code: GGM. 

The operating results and state of affairs of the group are fully 
set out in the attached annual financial statements and do 
not, in the directors’ opinion, require any further comment.

Net loss of the group for the year ended 31 December 
2012 was ZAR 85.9 million, compared to a group net loss 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 of ZAR 
29.2 million. Net profit of the company for the year ended 
31 December 2012 was ZAR 312.5 million, compared 
to a company net loss for the financial year ended 
31 December 2011 of ZAR 29.2 million.

5.  SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE 
OF AFFAIRS

Goliath Gold acquired all the Megamine assets of Gold One 
Africa, a wholly owned subsidiary of Gold One. All conditions 
precedent to the acquisition were fulfilled and the transaction 
was announced to be unconditional on 20 March 2012. Goliath 
Gold settled the purchase price by issuing shares to Gold One 
Africa. In accordance with IFRS 3: Business Combinations, this 
transaction was determined to be a “reverse acquisition”. 

In a reverse acquisition the legal acquirer, Goliath Gold, 
becomes the accounting subsidiary and the legal acquiree, 
Megamine, becomes the accounting acquirer.
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The goodwill calculated is provisional because the fair value assessments and purchase price allocation have not been finalised. 
Goliath Gold issued 104,891,947 shares to Gold One Africa to settle the acquisition of Megamine. Subsequently Gold One Africa 
acquired a further 1,215,300 shares when remaining shareholders in Goliath Gold accepted the offer by Gold One Africa to 
receive one Gold One share for every 1.2 Goliath Gold shares held. Gold One Africa holds 72% of the issued ordinary shares of 
Goliath Gold.

6. AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

The company’s authorised ordinary share capital of 200,000,000 ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each remained unchanged during 
the year under review.

The company had 147,354,905 ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each in issue during the year under review.

The number of unissued shares as at 31 December 2012 was 52,645,095.

Detail of the company’s authorised and issued share capital is set out in note 21 of the annual financial statements.

7. DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders during the year under review (2011 - ZAR nil).

8. MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

In the opinion of the directors, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2012 other than the appointment 
of Richard Stewart as company CEO, effective from 1 January 2013.

9. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

To date, the interests of the directors in the shares of the company and related bodies corporate are:

DIRECTOR NUMBER DIRECTLY HELD NUMBER INDIRECTLY HELD

Christopher Chadwick Unlisted options 1 000 000 -

Mark Wheatley Unlisted options 1 000 000 -

10. LITIGATION

There were no pending litigations as at 31 December 2012.

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

Details of the company’s directors’ remuneration and benefits are set out in note 29 of the annual financial statements.

12. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The annual financial statements for Goliath Gold for the year ended 31 December 2012 were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on 27 March 2013.

Goliath Gold is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in South Africa with its shares publicly traded on 
the JSE. Goliath Gold has prepared annual financial statements incorporating the entities it controlled during the financial year.

13. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 16 of the annual financial statements.

The company has signed letters of support and, where required, subordination agreements for the subsidiary companies.
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14. MATERIAL RESOLUTIONS

Details of special resolutions and other resolutions of a significant nature passed by the company and its subsidiaries during the 
year under review requiring disclosure in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and good governance were as follows:

• “To the extent required by the Companies Act, the board of directors of the company may, subject to compliance with the 
requirements of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, each 
as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance by way of loans, guarantees, and/or the provision of security.”

• “Subject to compliance with the Memorandum of Incorporation of the company, Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act 
and the JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, the company may 
provide financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, provision of security or otherwise to any person to subscribe for any 
option or securities issued or to be issued by the company or related or inter-related company or for the purchase of any 
securities of the company or related or inter-related company.”

• “The Remuneration Policy in respect of the directors and the remuneration of directors for their services as directors, in 
terms of Section 66 of the Companies Act be and is hereby approved for a period of 2 (two) years from the passing of this 
resolution.”

15. AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditors for the year ended 31 December 2012.

16. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice of the forthcoming AGM, which is to be held at Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, Ground Floor, Corner 14th 
Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter Street, Weltevreden Park at 10h00 on Friday, 30 April 2013, is set out in the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting on pages 96 to 104. Additional copies of the Notice of Annual General Meeting may be obtained from the 
company’s corporate contacts and the transfer secretaries or may be accessed via the company’s website.
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The financial statements cover the financial statements for the consolidated entity, consisting of Goliath Gold Mining Limited
("Goliath Gold") and its subsidiaries, as well as the company financial statements. These financial statements are presented
in South African Rands ("ZAR").

Goliath Gold is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. Its registered office is as follows:

Goliath Gold Mining Limited
1933/004523/06
Empire Office Park
55 Empire Road
Parktown, 2193
South Africa

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors’
Report, set out on pages 44 to 46, which forms part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 27 March 2013. All press releases, financial
statements and other information are available in the investors section of the company’s website.

Preparer

This financial report was prepared under the supervision of:
Phillip Spencer
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Vice President: Finance
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Revenue - 17 949 - 17 949

Cost of sales - (27 205) - (27 205)

Gross Loss - (9 256) - (9 256)

Other income - 127 27 564 127

Operating expenses 5 (35 461) (505) (40 217) (505)

Exploration and pre-feasibility expenditure (25 407) (18 502) (14 301) (18 502)

(Loss) / profit on sale of assets (1 105) (1 019) 325 747 (1 019)

Black Economic Empowerment transactions 22 (23 770) - (20 382) -

Operating (Loss) / Profit (85 743) (29 155) 278 411 (29 155)

Finance income 6 1 821 - 35 985 -

Finance costs 7 (2 019) (64) (1 881) (64)

(Loss) / Profit Before Taxation (85 941) (29 219) 312 515 (29 219)

Income taxation 8 78 - - -

(Loss) / Profit for the Period (85 863) (29 219) 312 515 (29 219)

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total Comprehensive (Loss) / Income Attributable
to the Parent (85 863) (29 219) 312 515 (29 219)

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share (cents) 9 (62) (28)

Diluted loss per share (cents) 9 (62) (28)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investment Property 11 3 825 - 3 825 -

Property, Plant and Equipment 12 73 417 42 437 - 42 437

Intangible Assets 13 75 282 - - -

Investments in Subsidiaries 14 * *

Loans to Related Parties 15 - - 532 199 -

152 524 42 437 536 024 42 437

Current Assets

Inventories 17 - 745 - 745

Receivables 18 1 865 122 1 701 122

Restricted Cash 19 1 648 721 1 648 721

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 12 514 - 12 508 -

16 027 1 588 15 857 1 588

Total Assets 168 551 44 025 551 881 44 025

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Share Capital 21 169 860 - 169 860 -

Reserves 22 24 059 - 289 -

(Accumulated loss) / Retained Income (44 320) 41 543 354 058 41 543

Total Equity 149 599 41 543 524 207 41 543

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Share Based Payment Liability 22 - - 20 382 -

Provisions 24 1 335 1 173 - 1 173

1 335 1 173 20 382 1 173

Current Liabilities

Loans from Related Parties 15 15 223 - 6 518 -

Trade and Other Payables 25 2 394 1 309 774 1 309

17 617 1 309 7 292 1 309

Total Liabilities 18 952 2 482 27 674 2 482

Total Equity and Liabilities 168 551 44 025 551 881 44 025

* Amounts less than ZAR 1 000
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
Capital Reserve

(Accumulated
loss) /

Retained
Income

Total
Equity

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Group

Balance at 01 January 2011 - - 43 110 43 110
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (29 219) (29 219)
Invested equity - - 27 652 27 652

Balance at 31 December 2011 - - 41 543 41 543

Balance at 01 January 2012 - - 41 543 41 543
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (85 863) (85 863)
Issue of shares 169 860 - - 169 860
Employee share options expense - 289 - 289
Black Economic Empowerment transactions - 23 770 - 23 770

Balance at 31 December 2012 169 860 24 059 (44 320) 149 599

Note 21 22

Company

Balance at 01 January 2011 - - 43 110 43 110
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (29 219) (29 219)
Invested equity - - 27 652 27 652

Balance at 31 December 2011 - - 41 543 41 543

Balance at 01 January 2012 - - 41 543 41 543
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 312 515 312 515
Issue of shares on acquisition 169 860 - - 169 860
Employee share options expense - 289 - 289

Balance at 31 December 2012 169 860 289 354 058 524 207

Note 21 22
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash used in operations 26 (33 599) (26 827) (17 168) (26 827)

Finance income 1 821 - 1 786 -

Taxation paid (1 699) - - -

Dividends received - - 27 564 -

Net Cash from Operating Activities (33 477) (26 827) 12 182 (26 827)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 12 (19) (1 172) (19) (1 172)

Proceeds on sale of investments 12 516 - - -

Movement of restricted cash (927) 347 (927) 347

Cash acquired through business combination 27 35 313 - 35 309 -

Net Cash from Investing Activities 46 883 (825) 34 363 (825)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Increase in invested equity - 27 652 - 27 652

Proceeds from borrowings 26 469 - - -

Repayment of borrowings (27 361) - (34 037) -

Net Cash from Financing Activities (892) 27 652 (34 037) 27 652

Total Cash Movement for the Year 12 514 - 12 508 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the Year 20 12 514 - 12 508 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Goliath Gold and its
subsidiaries.

1.1. Basis of Preparation

These general purpose consolidated and separate financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2012
have been prepared in accordance with  International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), the Companies Act
2008 (Act 71 of 2008) and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

Historical Cost Convention

These consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention,
except for investment property which is carried at fair value.

Reverse acquisition 

Goliath Gold acquired all the assets of Megamine, a division of Gold One Africa Limited ("Gold One Africa") which
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Gold One International Limited ("Gold One"). All conditions precedent to the
acquisition were fulfilled and the transaction was announced to be unconditional on 19 March 2012. Goliath Gold
settled the purchase price by issuing shares to Gold One Africa. In accordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations, this transaction was determined to be a “reverse acquisition”.

The financial statements of Goliath Gold which have been prepared following the reverse acquisition are issued
under the name of the Goliath Gold but described in the notes as a continuation of the financial statements of
Megamine, with one adjustment. As Megamine is a division of Gold One Africa, Megamine has no legal capital.
The required adjustment is to reflect the legal capital of Goliath Gold within the consolidated and company financial
statements. 

Because the consolidated and company financial statements represent the continuation of the financial statements
of Megamine except for its capital structure, the consolidated financial statements reflect:
 The assets and liabilities of the Megamine recognised and measured at their pre-combination carrying

amounts.
 The assets and liabilities of the Goliath Gold recognised and measured in accordance with IFRS 3 Business

Combinations.
 The retained earnings and other invested equity balances of Megamine before the business combination.
 The amount recognised as issued equity interests in the consolidated financial statements is determined by

adding the equity interest of Megamine outstanding immediately before the business combination to the fair
value of Goliath Gold determined in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. However, the equity
structure (i.e. the number and type of equity interests issued) reflects the equity structure of Goliath Gold,
including the equity interests issued to Gold One Africa to effect the combination. Accordingly, the equity
structure of Megamine is restated using the exchange ratio established in the acquisition agreement to reflect
the number of shares Goliath Gold issued in the reverse acquisition.

On the same date as the reverse acquisition by Goliath Gold of the Megamine assets, Goliath Gold entered into a
sales agreement with Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited ("Far East Gold") (a wholly
owned subsidiary) to sell the Megamine assets and Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited ("Witnigel")
prospecting rights. As Far East Gold was a company created to effect a capital reorganisation and had no
business operations, no business combination occurred as the requirements of IFRS 3 Business Combinations
were not met. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Going Concern

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis using
appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable judgements and estimates. The going concern basis
contemplates that the group will have adequate resources to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable
future.

We note that as at 31 December 2012, the group and company's total assets exceed its liabilities by ZAR 149.599
million and ZAR 524.207 million respectively. The group incurred a loss for the year of ZAR 85.863 million whilst
the company generated profits for the year of ZAR 312.515 million.

However, as the group and company is a gold exploration company and does not currently have cash generating
assets, the continued exploration programme is funded from debt by the parent company, Gold One. Gold One has
confirmed that it undertakes to continue its financial support of Goliath Gold as and when additional funding is
required to execute the exploration programme.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements in conformity with IFRS, requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated and separate financial statements are
disclosed in note 3, Critical accounting estimates and judgements.

1.2 Principles of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated and separate financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of
Goliath Gold ("company" or "parent entity") as at 31 December 2012 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year
then ended. Goliath Gold and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these consolidated and separate financial
statements as the ("group") or the ("consolidated entity").

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are de-
consolidated from the date which control ceases.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those of the group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of Goliath Gold.

Intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of the impairment of the asset transferred.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised
separately from the group's interest therein, and are recognised within the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, financial position and changes in equity respectively. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to
non-controlling interests are allocated to non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being
recognised for non-controlling interest.
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1.2 Principles of Consolidation (continued)

Changes in Ownership Interest

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests, that do not result in a loss of control, as transactions
with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Goliath Gold.

When the group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the
group.

The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

1.3 Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive
committee. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segment, has been identified as the Executive Committee that makes strategic
decisions.

1.4 Translation of Foreign Currencies

Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the consolidated and separate financial statements of each entity in the group are measured
using the currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant
to that entity ("the functional currency"). The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in ZAR,
which is the group's presentation currency. The functional currency of the company and its subsidiaries is ZAR.
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1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment

Mine Development Costs and Plant Facilities

Mine development costs and plant facilities costs are capitalised to the extent that they provide access to ore
bodies and have future economic benefit. These costs include the purchase price (including duties and non-
refundable taxes) of assets used in the construction of the mine, costs directly related to develop the mine asset
for its intended use and the present value of the initial estimate of future costs of decommissioning and land
restoration. Other costs capitalised to the asset are direct costs incurred in the development of the mine and plant
and indirect costs that can be directly attributable to the development of the mine and plant.

Depreciation of other assets used in and borrowing costs directly attributable to the development of the mine and
plant are also capitalised. All mine and plant start-up costs and incidental income earned during development are
capitalised. 

The above costs are capitalised until the ore body is available for intended use, at which time the asset is
depreciated and further costs are expensed. Mine assets are initially recorded at cost, whereafter they are
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Mining Exploration

Exploration costs are expensed as incurred, unless there is a high degree of confidence in the project's viability
and it is probable that the project will return future economic benefits to the group when all further pre-production
expenditure is capitalised. These costs include evaluation costs.

Undeveloped Properties

Undeveloped properties include land, mineral and surface rights as well as plant and equipment used in
exploration activities are recorded at cost of acquisition.

Capitalised expenditure on undeveloped properties is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date. In the case
of undeveloped properties, there may be only inferred resources to form a basis for the impairment review. When
there is little likelihood of mineral rights being exploited, or the value of mineral rights have diminished below cost,
an impairment loss is recognised against income in the period that such determination is made.

Subsequent recovery of the resulting carrying value depends on successful development of the area of interest or
sale of the project. If a project does not prove viable, all irrecoverable costs associated with the project are written
off.

Depreciation of Mining Assets

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of mine development costs, plant facilities, mineral and surface rights as well
as equipment used in exploration activities is computed principally by the units-of-production method based on
estimated proven and probable reserves. To the extent that these costs benefit a portion of the entire ore body,
they are depreciated over the expected useful life of the ore body portion. Depreciation is first charged on mining
ventures from the date on which the mining ventures are available for intended use. Changes in depreciation as a
result of changes in reserve estimates are made prospectively.

Other Plant and Equipment

Other plant and equipment include buildings, plant and equipment, vehicles, office and computer equipment.

Other plant and equipment are shown at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

56



Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

These assets are depreciated on the straight line basis to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Item Average Useful Life
Buildings 20 years
Plant and equipment 3 years
Vehicles 3 - 10 years
Office equipment 3 - 10 years
Computer equipment 3 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset is reviewed and adjusted as appropriate at
the end of each reporting period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as
a change in accounting estimate.

The asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount
of another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition and / or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and
the carrying amount of the item.

1.6 Investment Property

Investment Property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic
benefits that are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the investment
property can be measured reliably.

Investment Property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of a property. If
a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised.

Fair Value

Subsequent to initial measurement, investment property is measured at fair value.

A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

1.7 Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains or losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.7 Intangible Assets (continued)

IT Development and Software

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will
contribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and / or cost reduction are capitalised to
software and systems. Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service and direct payroll
and payroll related costs of employees’ time spent on the project. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5 years.

IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only
recognised following completion of technical feasibility and where the group has an intention and ability to use the
asset.

1.8 Financial Instruments

Non-Derivative Financial Assets

The group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets
(including assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which
is the date that the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is
created or retained by the group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated and separate statement
of financial position when, and only when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The group classifies non-derivative financial assets into loans and receivables.

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, loans to related parties and trade and other
receivables.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisations and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators
that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss
is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from
the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the group
in the management of its short-term commitments.

Restricted Cash

Cash which is subject to restriction on its use is stated separately at its carrying amount in the statement of
financial position.

Financial Assets Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

Financial assets through profit or loss comprise investments in listed shares.

Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

The group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are
originated. All other financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise borrowings, bank overdrafts, and trade and other payables.

Borrowings

Borrowings include short term and long term borrowings. Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred and is subsequently stated at amortised cost. Borrowings are classified as short term
unless the borrowing entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting date. Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
has expired. Premiums or discounts arising from the difference between the fair value of borrowings raised and the
amount repayable at maturity date are charged to profit or loss as finance expenses based on the effective interest
method.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Impairment

Non-Derivative Financial Assets

A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that loss
events had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
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Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of
an amount due to the group on terms that the group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or
issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers, economic conditions
that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an investment in
an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of
impairment. The group considers a decline of 20 percent to be significant and a period of nine months to be
prolonged.

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

The group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and
receivables) at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for specific
impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has
been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for
impairment by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical
trends. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial assets measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investment securities. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be
recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss
to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in
profit or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the
relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
operating expenses.

1.9 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value and comprise spares and consumables.

Spares and Consumables

The cost of spares and consumables include the purchase price, import duties and other taxes, transport, handling
and all other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the spares and consumables. Spares and consumables
are valued using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

1.10 Contributed Equity

Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any taxation effects.
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Current Taxation Assets and Liabilities

Taxation expense comprises current and deferred taxation. Current taxation and deferred taxation is recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or
in other comprehensive income.

The income taxation expense or income for the period is the taxation payable on the current period's taxable
income based on the applicable income taxation rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred taxation
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and unused taxation losses.

Current Assets and Liabilities

Current taxation assets and liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The current income taxation charge is calculated on the basis of the taxation laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in taxation returns with respect to situations in
which applicable taxation regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred Taxation Assets and Liabilities

Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred taxation is not
recognised for:
 Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
 Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the group is able to control the

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and

 Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The measurement of deferred taxation reflects the taxation consequences that would follow the manner in which
the group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities. For investment property that is measured at fair value, the presumption that the carrying amount of the
investment property will be recovered through sale has not been rebutted.

Deferred taxation is measured at the taxation rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, using taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation
liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity, but
they intend to settle current taxation liabilities and assets on a net basis or their taxation assets and liabilities will
be realised simultaneously.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for unused taxation losses, taxation credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
utilised. Deferred taxation assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related taxation benefit will be realised.

Taxation Exposures

In determining the amount of current and deferred taxation, the group takes into account the impact of uncertain
taxation positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available
that causes the group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing taxation liabilities; such changes
to taxation liabilities will impact taxation expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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1.12 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other than investment property, inventories and deferred
taxation assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets are tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an
asset or cash-generating unit ("CGU") exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-taxation
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU. For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated
so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored
for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.13 Provisions

Asset Retirement Obligations

The group recognises the best estimate of the future asset retirement obligation as a liability in the year in which it
incurs a legal or constructive obligation associated with the retirement of tangible long lived assets that results
from the acquisition, construction, development, and / or normal use of the assets. The group concurrently
recognises a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset that is depreciated over
the life of the asset.

The present value of the asset retirement obligation is reviewed annually using the expected cash flow approach
that reflects the actual outcome discounted at credit adjusted risk-free interest rate. The present value is provided
for in full, based on disturbance to date, for the estimated future costs of pollution control and rehabilitation, in
accordance with environmental and regulatory requirements.

Changes in the obligation due to damage caused during the production phase are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to the initial measurement, the asset retirement obligation is adjusted at the end of each year to reflect
the passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation.

Changes in the obligation, due to the passage of time, are recognised in the consolidated and separate statement
of comprehensive income as a financing cost using the discounted cash flow method. Changes in the obligation
due to changes in estimated cash flows are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the long-lived
asset that is depreciated over the remaining life of the asset.

The rehabilitation asset is amortised over the life of the mine.
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1.14 Employee Benefits

Wages and Salaries

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in accruals in respect of employees' services up to the reporting
date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All short-term employee benefit
obligations are presented as payables.

Share Based Payments

Share based compensation benefits are provided to employees via an employee share scheme. The fair value of
options granted under the employee share scheme is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during
which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the
exercise price, term of the option, impact of dilution, share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the
underlying share, expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each
reporting date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.
The employee benefit expense, recognised each period, takes into account the most recent estimate.

1.15 Accounting for Black Economic Empowerment ("BEE") Transactions

The group issued equity instruments to BEE parties. These are accounted for as equity-settled share-based
payments. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments are immediately charged to profit or loss,
based on the group's estimate of the shares that will eventually vest.

The fair value of the grant is determined using the Monte Carlo pricing model that takes into account the exercise
price, term of the option, impact of dilution, share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying
share, expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option.

1.16 Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of returns, trade discounts and
volume rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the group's activities, as
described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating
to the sale have been resolved. The group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the
type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Sale of Gold

Gold revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the gold has passed to the
buyer and can be measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery,
being when the gold leaves the processing plant and is collected by Rand Refinery Limited (the group's only
customer). Sundry revenue, incidental to the main revenue generating activities of the operations and which is a
consequence of production and selling the main products, is treated as a credit to operating costs.
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1.17 Earnings or Loss Per Share

Basic Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income taxation effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

1.18 Finance Income

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it occurs, in profit
or loss, using the effective interest method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the company’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.19 Finance Costs

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings.

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which it is incurred.

1.20 Value Added Tax ("VAT")

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated VAT, unless the VAT incurred is
not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of VAT receivable or payable. The net amount of
VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the
consolidated and separate statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and Interpretations Effective and Adopted in the Current Year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard / Interpretation: 

Effective Date:
Years Beginning
on or After Expected Impact:

IAS 12 Income Taxes: Amendment:
Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets

01 January 2012 The amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that
investment property measured at fair value is recovered
entirely by sale. 

The principals of the amendment have been previously
applied and accordingly there was no material impact on
the financial statements as a result of this amendment.

2.2 Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt any of the standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2013 or later periods:

Standard / Interpretation: 

Effective Date:
Years Beginning
on or After Expected Impact:

IAS 27 Separate Financial
Statements

01 January 2013 IFRS 27 contains accounting and disclosure requirements
for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates when an entity elects or is required by local
regulations to present separate financial statements. The
Standard requires an entity preparing separate financial
statements to account for those investments at cost or in
accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and
subsequent amendments

01 January 2013 IFRS 9 introduced new requirements for classifying and
measuring financial assets. Subsequently, new
requirements were published for the accounting for
financial liabilities and the derecognition of financial
instruments. As the scope of the standard will be further
expanded to included impairment of assets and hedge
accounting, the group will review the effect of a
comprehensive standard on financial instruments and
consider adoption when appropriate. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements

01 January 2013 The standard defines the principle of control and
establishes control as the basis for determining which
entities are included in the consolidation financial
statements. This standard will not have a significant impact
on the financial statements of the group as it currently
applies the criteria for establishing control as defined in
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Standard / Interpretation: 

Effective Date:
Years Beginning
on or After Expected Impact:

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

01 January 2013 The standard requires an entity to disclose information that
enables users of financial statements to evaluate the
nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in
subsidiaries, entities which are not fully consolidated,
including special purpose entities; and the effects of those
interests on its financial position, financial performance and
cash flows. The group is currently reviewing the effects of
this standard and the impact on the extent of disclosures
required. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 01 January 2013 The standard explains how to measure fair value and aims
to enhance fair value disclosure. The group has yet to
determine which, if any, of its current measurement
techniques will have to change as a result of the new
guidance. It is therefore, not possible to state the impact, if
any, that the new rules will have on any of the amounts
recognised in the financial statements. However,
application of the new standard will impact the nature and
extent of information disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. 

IAS 32 Offsetting of Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

01 January 2014 The application guidance of IAS 32 has been amended to
clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities on the statement of financial
position. The amendments do not change the current
offsetting model in IAS 32, but clarify that the right of set-off
must be available today – that is, it is not contingent on a
future event. It also must be legally enforceable for all
counterparties in the normal course of business, as well as
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The
amendments also clarify that gross settlement mechanisms
(such as through a clearing house) with features that both
(i) eliminate credit and liquidity risk and (ii) process
receivables and payables in a single settlement process,
are effectively equivalent to net settlement; they would
therefore satisfy the IAS 32 criterion in these instances.
Master netting agreements where the legal right of offset is
only enforceable on the occurrence of some future event,
such as default of the counterparty, continue not to meet
the offsetting requirements. 
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Standard / Interpretation: 

Effective Date:
Years Beginning
on or After Expected Impact:

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure - IFRS 9 Transitional
Disclosures

01 January 2013 The amendment requires additional disclosure on the
transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. This additional disclosure
is only required when an entity adopts IFRS 9 for financial
periods beginning on / after 01 January 2013. If an entity
adopts IFRS 9 for financial periods beginning on / after 01
January 2012 and before 01 January 2013, the entity can
either provide the additional disclosure or restate prior
periods. The additional disclosure highlights the changes in
classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
upon the adoption of IFRS 9. 

IFRS 7: Financial Instruments:
Disclosures - Offsetting of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities 

01 January 2015 The amended disclosures will require more extensive
disclosures than are currently required under IFRS. The
disclosures focus on quantitative information about
recognised financial instruments that are offset in the
statement of financial position, as well as those recognised
financial instruments that are subject to master netting or
similar arrangements irrespective of whether they are
offset. 

Annual Improvements 2009 – 2011
Cycle

01 January 2013 Improvements to IFRS is a collection of amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). These
amendments are the result of conclusions the Board
reached on proposals made in its annual improvements
project.  
 If the consolidation conclusion under IFRS 10 differs

from IAS 27 / SIC 12 as at the date of initial
application, the immediately preceding comparative
period (that is, 2012 for a calendar-year entity that
adopts IFRS 10 in 2013) is restated to be consistent
with the accounting conclusion under IFRS 10, unless
impracticable. 

 Any difference between IFRS 10 carrying amounts
and previous carrying amounts at the beginning of the
immediately preceding annual period is adjusted to
equity.  

 Adjustments to previous accounting are not required
for investees that will be consolidated under both
IFRS 10 and the previous guidance in IAS 27 / SIC 12
as at the date of initial application, or investees that
will be unconsolidated under both sets of guidance as
at the date of initial application.  

 Comparative disclosures will be required for IFRS 12
disclosures in relation to subsidiaries, associates, and
joint arrangements. However, this is limited only to
the period that immediately precedes the first annual
period of IFRS 12 application. Comparative
disclosures are not required for interests in
unconsolidated structured entities. 
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the consolidated and separate financial statements and related
disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates.
Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the consolidated and separate
financial statements.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below:

Fair Value Estimation

Mineral Rights

The fair value of mineral rights, which are recognised as part of a business combination, comprising mineral reserves
and mineral resources, are determined by reference to market values of those or similar items where available, or by
discounting expected future cash flows using the discount rate to present values.

Key assumptions and judgements used in the valuation were as follows:

Wit Nigel prospecting rights (PR 73):

Date of valuation 19 March 2012
Number of ounces (M'oz) 3.2
Exchange rate (R / $) 7.56
Gold price ($ / oz) 1 665
Value ZAR million 55

Investment Property

An experienced valuator having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the
location and category of the property being valued, values the group's investment property portfolio every six months.
The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on
the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably.

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the valuations are prepared by considering the estimated rental
value of the property. A market yield is applied to the estimated rental value to arrive at the gross property valuation.
When accrual rents differ materially from the estimated rental value, adjustments are made to reflect actual rents.

Share Based Payment Transactions

Share based payments are calculated at fair value at the date granted and recognised as an expense over the vesting
period. The group uses certain assumptions as inputs into the valuation model. The key assumptions and judgements
used in the valuation of share based payments is set out in note 22.

Measurement of Asset Retirement Obligation

The present value of the asset retirement obligation is calculated annually using the expected cash flow approach that
reflects management's best estimates discounted at a credit adjusted risk-free interest rate. 
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3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

Rehabilitation costs are expected when exploration, evaluation and development activities give rise to the need for
restoration. The costs include obligations relating to reclamation, waste site closure, plant closure and other costs
associated with the restoration of the site. These estimates of the restoration obligations are based on current
technology and legal requirements and future costs. Any changes in the estimates are adjusted on a prospective
basis. In determining the restoration obligations, the entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in the
relevant South African legislation in relation to restoration of such mines in the future. Refer to note 24 of the notes to
the consolidated and separate financial statements for the key assumptions used in determining the asset retirement
obligation.

Mineral Reserves

Mineral reserves are the basis of future cash flow estimates and unit-of-production depreciation and depletion and
amortisation calculations. Management uses estimates and assumptions in determining the reserves. These
estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance.

The group is required to determine and report on the mineral reserves in accordance with the SAMREC codes.
Estimates of mineral reserves may change from year to year due to the change in economic assumptions used to
estimate ore reserves and due to additional geological data becoming available during the course of operations.

Changes in reported proven and probable reserves may affect the group's financial results and position in a number of
ways including the following:
 Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated cash flows;
 Depreciation and amortisation charges to profit or loss may change as these are calculated on the units-of

production method, or where the useful economic lives of assets change;
 Decommissioning site restoration and environmental provisions may change where changes in ore reserves

affect expectations about the timing or cost of these activities; and
 The carrying value of deferred taxation assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of

the taxation benefits.

Useful Lives and Residual Values

The group depreciates its mining assets using the units-of-production method, based on proven and probable mineral
reserves. The calculation of the units-of-production rate of depreciation could be impacted to the extent that actual
production is different from current forecast production based on proven and probable reserves. This would generally
arise when there are significant changes in any of the factors or assumptions used in estimating mineral reserves.

Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives, which do not exceed the
estimated mine life. The estimation of the useful lives of assets is based on historical performance as well as
expectations about future use. These methods require a significant degree of judgement to be applied by
management. The actual lives of these assets can vary depending on a variety of factors, including technological
innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes.

Impairment of Goodwill

The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 1.7. The recoverable amount of cash generating units have been determined based on fair value less
cost to sell calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.
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4. Segment Information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the executive committee that
are used to make strategic decisions. The executive committee considers the business from a functional perspective
and has identified two reportable segments. The group currently operates in one geographical location being the East
Rand of Johannesburg, performing exploration and mining activities. During the prior year, Megamine was an active
mining operation and was monitored by the executive committee accordingly. However, towards the end of 2011, as a
result of closure of mining operations and halting of pumping activities adjacent to the Sub Nigel shaft, the shaft
became flooded.

Therefore, during 2012 the group focused entirely on the exploration of the prospecting rights which were acquired as
part of the business combination. As a result, the only operating segment related to exploration activities and all
assets and liabilities were reclassified accordingly. No mining activities took place in 2012. 

The principal business segment units in the group are as follows: 

Segments Scope of Operations

Mining Extraction of and extraction processing of gold ore into fine gold; and
Exploration Potential mining, prospecting and exploration.

2012
R '000

2011
R '000

Segment Revenue
Mining - 17 949
Exploration - -

Consolidated Segment Revenue - 17 949

Comprehensive Loss for the Period
Mining - (29 219)
Exploration (85 863) -

Consolidated Segment Loss (85 863) (29 219)

Other Profit and Loss
Disclosure:

2012
Depreciation

R '000 
Impairment *

R '000

Finance
Income

R '000

Finance
Costs
R '000

Income
Taxation

R '000

Mining - - - - -
Exploration (1 827) (22 914) 1 821 (2 019) 78

(1 827) (22 914) 1 821 (2 019) 78

2011
Depreciation

R '000 
Impairment

R '000

Finance
Income

R '000

Finance
Costs
R '000

Income
Taxation

R '000

Mining (5 490) - - (64) -
Exploration - - - - -

(5 490) - - (64) -

* The impairment took place in 2012 but related to mining asset which were reflected in the mining operating segment
in 2011. Refer to note 12 for further details.
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4. Segment Information (continued)

2012
R '000

2011
R '000

Assets
Mining - 44 025
Exploration 168 551 -

Consolidated Total Assets 168 551 44 025

Liabilities
Mining - (2 482)
Exploration (18 952) -

Consolidated Total Liabilities (18 952) (2 482)

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

5. Operating Expenses

Operating expenses comprise:
Audit remuneration 10 (988) - (697) -
Employee costs (999) - (999) -
Employee share options expense 22 (289) - (289) -
Impairment on investments (168) - (201) -
Impairment on property, plant and equipment 12 (22 914) - - -
Legal fees (1 680) - (1 680) -
Listing fees (288) - (288) -
Loss on redemption of preference shares - - (28 815) -
Management and administration fee (5 943) (505) (5 943) (505)
Other expenses (700) - (991) -
Secretarial fees (314) - (314) -
Fair value adjustment (1 178) - - -

(35 461) (505) (40 217) (505)

6. Finance Income

Bank 1 821 - 1 786 -
Loans to group companies - - 34 199 -

1 821 - 35 985 -

Loans to subsidiaries bears interest at prime. However, the interest received from these loans has not been
recognised as the loans are fully impaired and the probability of further economic benefits is remote.

7. Finance Costs

Loans from related parties (1 857) - (1 857) -
Notional interest on unwinding of discounting of
environmental provision (162) (64) (24) (64)

(2 019) (64) (1 881) (64)
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

8. Taxation

Major Components of the Taxation Expense
Normal Taxation
Current year (469) - - -
Prior year (6) - - -

(475) - - -

Deferred Taxation
Current year 553 - - -

Total Taxation Charge 78 - - -

Reconciliation of the Taxation Expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and taxation expense:

Accounting (loss) / profit (85 941) (29 219) 312 515 (29 219)

Taxation at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2011: 34%) 24 063 9 934 (87 504) 9 934

Non-taxable income - - 98 555 -
Non-deductible expenses (14 557) (1) (14 544) (1)
Taxation rate differential 2 178 - 110 -
Taxable income not recognised for accounting (917) - (917) -
Tax losses utilised 6 888 - 6 888 -
Prior year adjustment - income taxation (6) - - -
Deferred taxation asset not recognised (17 571) (9 933) (2 588) (9 933)

78 - - -

Taxation Losses
Unused taxation losses not recognised as deferred
taxation assets 109 450 - 100 483 -

Potential Taxation Benefit as 28% (2011: 34%) 30 646 - 28 135 -

Unrecognised Temporary Differences
Unrecognised deferred taxation assets relating to
temporary differences 52 120 47 266 1 679 47 266

Deferred taxation assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the group can utilise it. This is due to the fact that the group consists of
gold exploration companies and that a trend of profitable growth is not yet established.

72



Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Group

2012 2011

9. Loss Per Share

Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share (cents) (62) (28)
Diluted loss per share (cents) (62) (28)
Headline loss per share (cents) (28) (27)
Diluted headline loss per share (cents) (27) (27)

Basic Loss Per Share

The calculation of basic loss per share at 31 December 2012 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of ZAR 85.863 million and (2011: ZAR 29.22 million) a weighted average number of shares of ordinary
shares outstanding of 138,189,404 (2011: 104,891,947) calculated as follows:

R '000 R '000 

Loss attributable to owners of the company (85 863) (29 219)

Number of
shares

Number of
shares

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares (Basic)
Number of shares deemed to be outstanding for the period from 01 January 2012
to acquisition date (104,891,947 x 79 days / 366 days) 22 640 612 104 891 947
Number of shares outstanding from the acquisition date to 31 December 2012
(147,354,905 x 287 days / 366 days) 115 548 792 -

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares Outstanding 138 189 404 104 891 947

Diluted Loss Per Share

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The group only has one element of potential ordinary
shares which is the employee share options issued in December 2012.

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares (Diluted) 
Number of

Shares
Number of

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 138 189 404 104 891 947
Adjustment for:
 - Share options 332 104 -

Weighted Average Number of Ordinary Shares for Diluted Earnings per Share 138 521 508 104 891 947

Headline Loss Per Share

The calculation of headline loss per share at 31 December 2012 was based on a loss attributable to the ordinary
shareholders of ZAR 38.074 million (2011: ZAR 28.200 million) and a weighted average number of shares of ordinary
shares outstanding of 138,189,404 (2011: 104,891,947).

Reconciliation of Headline Loss 
R '000 R '000

Loss attributable to owners of the company (85 863) (29 219)
Loss on disposal of assets 1 105 1 019
Black Economic Empowerment transactions 23 770 -
Impairment of assets 22 914 -

Headline Loss (38 074) (28 200)
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

9. Earnings or Loss Per Share (continued)

Dilutive Headline Loss Per Share

The calculation of diluted headline loss per share at 31 December 2012 was based on a loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of ZAR 38.074 million (2011: ZAR 28.200 million) and a diluted weighted average number of shares of
138,521,508 (2011: 104,891,947)

10. Auditors' Remuneration

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit fees (988) - (697) -

11. Investment Property

Group and Company 2012 2011

Cost
R' 000 

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Cost
R' 000 

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Land at fair value 3 825 3 825 - -

Reconciliation of Investment Property - Group and Company

Opening
Balance

R '000 

Additions
Through

Business
Combinations

R '000
Total

R '000

Land at fair value - 3 825 3 825

Details of Valuation

The investment property represents land situated in the Middelburg area. These properties are freehold and are held
for capital appreciation. 

This land does not generate rental income. There were no significant direct operating expenses which were incurred
on these properties.

The valuation of investment property was performed on the basis of the market value of these properties which are
defined as the most likely price in a willing buyer will pay a willing seller for the properties on the date of the valuation.
The valuation was performed with reference to the recent market transactions of similar properties in the surrounding
area.

This valuation of investment property is updated annually by a valuer. The latest valuation was performed by Mr HD
Jooste as Group Property and Real Rights Manager of Gold One on 31 December 2012. In terms of location and
category of the investment property being valued Mr HD Jooste has the required experience to conduct the valuation.
The investment property was valued using the comparable sales method.
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group 2012 2011

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
Depreciation

R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
Depreciation

R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Other plant and
equipment 25 234 (8 365) 16 869 25 198 (7 416) 17 782
Mine development costs
and plant facilities 27 757 (27 757) - 27 757 (4 843) 22 914
Undeveloped properties 57 795 (1 247) 56 548 2 110 (369) 1 741

Total 110 786 (37 369) 73 417 55 065 (12 628) 42 437

Company 2012 2011

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
Depreciation

R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
Depreciation

R' 000

Carrying
Value
R' 000

Other plant and
equipment - - - 25 198 (7 416) 17 782
Mine development costs
and plant facilities - - - 27 757 (4 843) 22 914
Undeveloped properties - - - 2 110 (369) 1 741

Total - - - 55 065 (12 628) 42 437

Group

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - 31 December 2012

Opening
Balance Additions

Additions
Through

Business
Combinations Depreciation

Impairment
Loss Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Other plant and
equipment 17 782 19 17 (949) - 16 869
Mine development costs
and plant facilities 22 914 - - - (22 914) -
Undeveloped properties 1 741 - 55 685 (878) - 56 548

42 437 19 55 702 (1 827) (22 914) 73 417

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - 31 December 2011

Opening
Balance Additions Depreciation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Other plant and equipment 19 152 1 089 (2 459) 17 782
Mine development costs and plant facilities 25 648 83 (2 817) 22 914
Undeveloped properties 1 955 - (214) 1 741

46 755 1 172 (5 490) 42 437
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Company

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - 31 December 2012

Opening
Balance

R '000
Additions

R '000

Additions
Through

Business
Combinations

R '000
Depreciation

R '000

Disposal to
Group

Companies
R '000

Total
R '000

Other plant and
equipment 17 782 19 17 (14) (17 804) -
Mine development costs
and plant facilities 22 914 - - - (22 914) -
Undeveloped properties 1 741 - 55 685 - (57 426) -

42 437 19 55 702 (14) (98 144) -

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - 31 December 2011

Opening
Balance

R '000 
Additions

R '000
Depreciation

R '000
Total

R '000

Other plant and equipment 19 152 1 089 (2 459) 17 782
Mine development costs and plant facilities 25 648 83 (2 817) 22 914
Undeveloped properties 1 955 - (214) 1 741

46 755 1 172 (5 490) 42 437

Security

There was no item of property, plant and equipment pledged as security.

Capital commitments

There are no capital commitments to acquire items of property, plant or equipment (2011: ZAR nil).

Impairment Loss

The impairment loss recorded in 2012 relates to assets which were flooded at the Megamine site. The recoverable
amount was based on its value in use. It is currently not economically feasible to perform sufficient pumping activities
in order to reopen the shaft.

Accordingly the entire amount of capitalised development cost and related decommission assets were impaired
through profit or loss. The remaining Megamine surface assets were not considered impaired as these assets are
being applied in the exploration and development of other exploration assets in the group.
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13. Intangible Assets

Group
2012

Company
2012

Cost
Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
Value

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Goodwill 75 282 - 75 282 - - -

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets - Group - 2012

Opening
Balance

Additions
Through

Business
Combinations Total

R '000 R '000 R '000

Goodwill - 75 282 75 282

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Company - 2012

Opening
balance

Additions
through

business
combinations

Disposed of
to group

company Total
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Goodwill - 75 282 (75 282) -

Impairment Testing for Cash Generating Units Containing Goodwill

The only cash generating unit with allocated goodwill is Far East Gold . Far East Gold is the exploration entity which is
exploring and prospecting in the East Rand region. In particular, Far East Gold acquired the assets of Megamine on
19 March 2012 and the Wit Nigel prospecting rights (PR73) which was acquired from Goliath Gold on the date of the
reverse acquisition (refer to note 27).

At the time of the reverse acquisition, a valuation of the business was performed and goodwill was determined to be
ZAR 75.282 million based on the synergistic benefit of the adjacent prospecting rights to the existing Megamine
exploration properties.

As Far East Gold is currently in the prospecting and exploration phase, a discounted cash flow valuation could not be
performed. A fair value less cost to sell valuation of the Far East Gold cash generating units was performed and the
recoverable amount for the Far East Gold cash generating unit was estimated to be ZAR 536.615 million. As at
31 December 2012, it was determined that there was adequate headroom over the net assets of Far East Gold,
including goodwill, in order to conclude that no impairment was required.

77



Goliath Gold Mining Limited
Audited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. Investments in Subsidiaries

Reconciliation of Company's Interest 

Issued
Share

Capital
R

Effective
Holding

%

2012
Shares
R '000

2012
Loans
R '000

2011
Shares
R '000

2011
Loans
R '000

Brakfontein Diamante Proprietary Limited 100 100 * 4 365 - -
Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited 100 100 * 16 440 - -
IEN Investments Proprietary Limited 100 100 55 424 5 717 - -
Newlands Minerals Proprietary Limited 100 100 1 553 13 455 - -
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holding Company
Proprietary Limited 1 000 100 12 837 41 - -
Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited 1 000 100 1 - - -
Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Limited 100 100 * 532 199 - -

69 815 572 217 - -
Impairment allowance (69 815) (40 018) - -

Total - 532 199 - -

* Amounts less than ZAR 1 000

Reconciliation of Impairment Allowance 2012 Shares Loans
R '000 R '000

Acquired through business combination (69 815) (196 807)
Witnigel cumulative redeemable preference shares redeemed - 156 789

Closing balance (69 815) (40 018)

In the prior period before the acquisition, all investments and loans to subsidiaries, with the exception of a preference
share investment with Witnigel (a wholly owned subsidiary), were fully impaired. As at 31 December 2012, all
investments and loans to subsidiaries are fully impaired with the exception of Far East Gold.

The loans to subsidiaries bear interest at prime and have no fixed repayment terms.

The preference shares represent cumulative redeemable preference shares in Witnigel. The preference shares bear
interest at the ruling prime rate and are redeemable at the discretion of the holder of the preference shares.

During 2012, the cumulative redeemable preference shares were redeemed resulting in a loss on redemption of
ZAR 28.815 million.

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

15. Loans to Related Parties

Loan to Related Parties

Far East Gold SPV Proprietary Limited - - 532 199 -

At the same time as the reverse acquisition by Goliath Gold of the Megamine assets, Goliath Gold sold the Megamine
assets and Wit Nigel prospecting rights to Far East Gold for an amount of ZAR 498.000 million. The purchase price
was determined as the market value of the business at the time of the sale. Refer to note 1.1 Reverse acquisition for
further details.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

15. Loans to Related Parties (continued)

The loan bears interest at the prime lending rate. The loan is repayable from the first receipt of capital or revenue
inflows into the Far East Gold business. 

The fair value of the loan receivable recognised at initial recognition was calculated using cash flows discounted at
the prime rate over a period of 10 years.

It was assumed that the cash flow would take place in year ten and that the amounts would be recovered from either
the production of an operating asset or through realisation of the assets through sale. As there are no expected loan
repayments in the forthcoming financial year the entire loan receivable has been classified as non-current asset.

Securities over the Far East Gold loan are described in note 22.

Loans from Related Parties

Gold One Africa Limited (6 924) - (695) -
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary Limited (228) - (97) -
Gold One International Limited (8 071) - (5 726) -

Loans from Related Parties (15 223) - (6 518) -

The loans bear interest at the prime lending rate and have no fixed repayment terms. Accordingly, these are classified
as current liability.

16. Other financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Acquired through business combination 14 799 - - -
Fair value adjustment (1 178) - - -
Disposal of financial assets (13 621) - - -

- - - -

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss refer to listed securities in Gold One and Goliath Gold. The fair
value of all listed securities were based on their listed prices in an active market.

17. Inventories

Spares and consumables - 745 - 745

Inventories were fully utilised in exploration activities during 2012.

18. Receivables

Deposits 500 - 500 -
Value added tax 1 171 - 1 009 -
Other receivables 194 122 192 122

1 865 122 1 701 122

No receivables have been pledged as security. Receivables are non-interest bearing and generally settled within 30
days. There are no receivables beyond their payment terms.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

18. Receivables (continued)

Fair Value of Receivables

These receivables are short term by nature and accordingly their carrying value approximates their fair value.

19. Restricted Cash

Restricted cash include the following:

Guarantees 1 648 721 1 648 721

The guarantees relate to the performance bank and insurance guarantees of the Department of Mineral Resources for
environmental rehabilitation, as well as performance guarantees to Eskom for energy.

20. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 12 514 - 12 508 -

The cash at the banks and in trading accounts are held at three financial institutions with high quality credit ratings,
namely First National Bank Limited, ABSA Bank Limited and Nedbank Bank Limited.

21. Share Capital

Authorised
200,000,000 ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each 500 000 500 000 500 000 500 000

Issued
147,354,905 ordinary shares 169 860 - 169 860 -

169 860 - 169 860 -

Group Company

Reconciliation of Number of Shares Issued:
2012 2011 2012 2011

Shares in issue 104 891 947 104 891 947 104 891 947 104 891 947
Shares issued through business combination 42 462 958 - 42 462 958 -

147 354 905 104 891 947 147 354 905 104 891 947

Although the actual shares in issue by Goliath Gold on the date of acquisition was 42,462,958 million ordinary shares
at 31 December 2012, for the purpose of applying reverse acquisition accounting, the issued share capital of Goliath
Gold is replaced with the issued share capital of Megamine. Because Megamine is not a company, but a division of
Gold One Africa, (now the holding company of Goliath Gold) and therefore has no issued share capital, the share
capital of Megamine is based on the fair value of the issued share capital of Goliath Gold at the acquisition date, i.e.
42,462,958 ordinary shares at ZAR 4.00 each amounting to ZAR 169.860 million.

As the consideration for the purchase for the Megamine assets, Goliath Gold issued 104,891,947 shares to Gold One
Africa resulting in Gold One Africa holding a 72% interest in Goliath Gold. Refer to note 27 for further details.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

22. Reserves

Opening balance - - - -
Employee share options expense 289 - 289 -
Black Economic Empowerment transaction 23 770 - - -

24 059 - 289 -

Employee Share Option Plan

The share option reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to directors and certain
employees as part of the remuneration for their services.

The exercise price of the granted options is fixed at ZAR 3,406 per option. Options are conditional on the employee
completing three year's service (vesting period). The options are exercisable in trenches of one third for each year of
service worked from grant date. The options expire after five years. The group has no legal or constructive obligation
to repurchase or settle the options in cash. Accordingly, these options are classified as equity settled as Goliath Gold
is required to settle these options through the issue of its own shares. 

There were no options exercised during the period.

Goliath Gold Mining Incentive Scheme

Grant
Date 

Expire
Date

Exercise
Price

Granted
During the

Year

Closing
Balance

(Share
Options)

14/12/2012 14/12/2017 ZAR 3.41 7 150 000 7 150 000

7 150 000 7 150 000

Fair Value of Options Granted

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 was ZAR 0.246 per
option (2011: nil). The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Binomial option pricing model that
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the terms
of the option.

The expected volatility is based on an annualised standard deviation of daily return over the last 90 consecutive days
("90-day volatility"). The volatilities used were estimated using share price data that was independently sourced.

The model inputs for the options granted during the year to 31 December 2012 included:

Share price at grant date Quoted market price
Expected forfeiture and early exercise 0%
Expected volatility 98.08%
Expected dividends nil
Risk-free interest rate based on the five year NACQ swap yield 5.83%
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22. Reserves (continued)

Black Economic Empowerment Transactions

During the year, the group granted a number of share options arrangements to Black Economic Empowerment
("BEE") partners in order to meet the South African Mining charter requirements of 26% black ownership by 2014.
These share option arrangements will settle in the equity interest of the group's mining operations.

Goliath Gold BEE share option arrangement

The intention of the BEE arrangement was for Micawber 400 Proprietary Limited ("Micawber") to acquire 26% of the
loan owed by Far East Gold to Goliath Gold. Micawber acquired finance from Goliath Gold in order to acquire the
interest in the loan to Far East Gold. The intention of the arrangement is that Micawber will utilise the income received
from their interest in Far East Gold to settle the outstanding amount of the loan (including accrued interest) owed by
Micawber to Goliath Gold. Both the shares which Micawber holds in Far East Gold as well as the interest in the loan
(owed by Far East Gold to Micawber) is used as security over the amount owed by Micawber to Goliath Gold.

Goliath Gold sold it's 26% of its shares in Far East Gold to Micawber for a nominal amount of ZAR 26. As Far East
Gold is fully leveraged (due to the loan owned by Far East Gold to Goliath Gold equalling the value of the assets in
Far East Gold), Micawber is not currently exposed to the related equity risks and rewards, until such time as the loan
is settled. Micawber therefore only share in the upside benefit of Far East Gold once the loan to Goliath Gold has been
settled. Accordingly, the arrangement is treated as an option. This option may only be exercised any time after six
years i.e. 19 March 2018.

In substance, as Goliath Gold issued an option to Micawber on Far East Gold shares, Goliath Gold continues to
consolidate 100% of Far East Gold and recognise the Far East Gold related party loan in full.

The option issued to Micawber on Far East Gold's shares is considered to be an equity settled share based payment
on a group basis. 

Measurement of Fair Values

The fair values of the share options granted through the BEE share option arrangements were measured based on the
Monte Carlo valuation model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historical volatility of similar companies
over the period commensurate with the expected term. The key inputs and assumptions used in the grant date
measurement of the fair values for the BEE share options were as follows:

Grant date 19 March 2012
Initial number of shares 26
Strike price of loan (26% of Far East Gold loan) ZAR 129.480 million
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility (weighted average) 40%
Interest accrued on loan to BEE party Prime rate: Currently 8.5%
Expected life (weighted average) 10 years
Exercise multiple 100%

Cash Settled Option

However, in the financial records of the parent entity, Goliath Gold, it has the obligation to settle the option. As the
option will be settled in Far East Gold shares and not in its own shares, this arrangement is thus accounted for as a
cash settled share based payment.
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22. Reserves (continued)

The key assumptions used in calculating the cash settled option at 31 December 2012 were the same as those used
during the grant date valuation as set out above with the exception that the debt balance was ZAR 138.472 million.

Reconciliation of Cash Settled Share Based Payment Company
2012

R '000 
2011

R '000

Share option issued (23 770) -
Fair value changes 3 388 -

Closing Balance (20 382) -

Sensitivity Analysis

The table below reflects the change in fair value relative to a 10% change in the interest rate applied on the debt:

2012
Company

10%
Increase

R '000 

10 %
Decrease

R '000

Value of cash settled option 4 689 (4 278)

Group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

23. Deferred Taxation

Deferred Taxation Liability

Acquired through business combination (553) - - -
Deferred taxation charge 553 - - -

Closing balance - - - -
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

23. Deferred Taxation (continued)

Recognition of Deferred Taxation Liability

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Investment property (656) - (656) -
Asset retirement obligation 431 379 - 379
Employee benefits 21 - 21 -
Property, plant and equipment 62 567 33 559 2 314 33 559
Taxation losses 30 646 - 28 135 -

93 009 33 938 29 814 33 938
Deferred taxation assets not recognised (93 009) (33 938) (29 814) (33 938)

Net Deferred Taxation Liabilities - - - -

The recognition of the deferred taxation asset is dependent on future taxable income against which deductible
temporary difference and unused taxation losses can be utilised. Until such time as it becomes probable that the
group and company will generate future taxable income against which the deductible temporary differences and
taxation losses can be utilised, no deferred taxation asset is recognised on the consolidated and separate statement
of financial position. The recognition of deductible temporary differences is limited to the amount of taxable temporary
difference where the group and company has a right to offset current taxation assets and liabilities and the taxes
related to the same taxation authority.

24. Provisions

Asset Retirement and Rehabilitation Obligation
Opening balance 1 173 1 150 1 173 1 150
Unwinding of discount 162 64 24 64
Disposal to group company - - (1 197) -
Change in estimate - (41) - (41)

1 335 1 173 - 1 173

Towards the end of 2011, as a result of the closure of surrounding mining operations adjacent to the Sub Nigel shaft
and the halting of pumping of underground water, the shaft became flooded. Accordingly, the rehabilitation provision
associated with the closure of the shaft has been recognised in full based on the current closure costs determined by
an external environmental specialist, Umhlaba Environmental Consulting CC.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

25. Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables 772 1 309 247 1 309
Accruals 1 541 - 446 -
Employee related accruals 81 - 81 -

2 394 1 309 774 1 309

Fair Value of Trade and Other Payables

These payables are short term by nature and their carrying value is deemed to approximate their fair value.

26. Cash Used in Operations

(Loss) / profit before taxation and finance charges (85 743) (29 155) 278 411 (29 155)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 1 827 5 490 14 5 490
Loss / (profit) on sale of assets 1 105 1 109 (325 747) 1 109
Fair value adjustments of financial assets 1 178 - - -
Impairment of assets 22 914 - 37 433 -
Reversal of accrual - (751) - (751)
Share options expense 289 (232) 20 671 (232)
Dividends received - - (27 564) -
Black Economic Empowerment charges 23 770 - - -
Changes in Working Capital:
Decrease in inventories 745 899 745 899
(Increase) / decrease in receivables (1 743) 825 (1 579) 825
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 1 085 (5 012) (535) (5 012)
Acquired through business combinations 974 - 983 -

(33 599) (26 827) (17 168) (26 827)

27. Business Combinations

Megamine Acquisition

Goliath Gold, acquired all the Megamine assets of Gold One Africa, a 100% held subsidiary of Gold One. All
conditions precedent to the acquisition of Goliath Gold were fulfilled and the transaction was declared unconditional on
19 March 2012. Goliath Gold settled the purchase price by issuing shares to Gold One Africa. Subsequent to the
conclusion of the transaction, Gold One Africa held 72% of the shareholding of Goliath Gold. In accordance with IFRS
3 Business Combinations, this transaction was determined to be a "reverse acquisition". In a reverse acquisition the
legal acquirer, Goliath Gold becomes the accounting subsidiary and the legal acquiree, Megamine, becomes the
accounting acquirer.

Accordingly, a fair value calculation was performed on the accounting acquiree, Goliath Gold.

Goliath Gold incurred a net loss of ZAR 77.040 million for the nine months, from 01 April 2012 to 31 December 2012,
which has been included in the consolidated accounts. If the acquisition had occurred on 01 January 2012, a loss of
ZAR 91.450 million would have been contributed to the group.

Megamine was acquired in order to expand Goliath Gold's exploration and prospecting resources on the East Rand
with the contiguous Goliath Gold exploration rights.
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27. Business Combinations (continued)

Details of the purchase consideration and the fair values of the net assets acquired are as follows:

2012
R '000

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

Cash and cash equivalents 35 309
Investment property 3 825
Investments in subsidiaries 37 433
Loans from related parties (38 730)
Loans to related parties 56
Mineral resources 55 685
Property, plant and equipment 17
Receivables 1 221
Trade and other payables (238)

Total identifiable net assets 94 578
Goodwill 75 282

169 860

Value of Consideration

The accounting acquirer, Megamine, was a division of Gold One Africa. Subsequent to the reverse acquisition, the
Megamine business ceases to exist and became the Goliath Gold company.

Acquisition costs of ZAR 2.655 million are included in general and administration expenses in profit or loss and in
operating cash flows in the consolidated and separate statement of cash flows. Refer to note 21 for further details of
value of consideration.

Goodwill

Goodwill was measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration effectively transferred, as the market value
of the shares issued, which was in excess of the net amount of Goliath Gold's recognised identifiable assets and
liabilities. No deferred taxation is raised on goodwill.

Goodwill arose on the acquisition as a result of the synergies between the existing Megamine mining and prospecting
rights with the adjacent Goliath Gold prospecting rights.

28. Guarantees and Contingencies

Guarantees

Bank guarantees to the amount of ZAR 1.648 million (2011: ZAR 0.721 million) have been issued by a financial
institution in favour of the Department of Mineral Resources to secure the group's rehabilitation obligations in respect
of its various prospecting rights.
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28. Guarantees and Contingencies (continued)

Contingent Asset

Goliath Gold was the holder of a surface right permit over erf 6853 in Heidelberg. Goliath Gold entered into an
agreement with Marble Gold 399 Proprietary Limited whereby Goliath Gold would abandon its prospecting right over
the area in exchange for a compensation of ZAR 3.000 million. No amounts have been received to date.

29. Related Parties
`

Relationships

Directors M Wheatley
K Rayner
J Vilakazi
P Nel
R Stewart (CEO)
C Chadwick (CFO)

Investments in Subsidiaries Country of
Incorporation

2012
%

Brakfontein Diamante Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited South Africa 100
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holdings Company Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
IEN Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
Newlands Minerals Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
Newshelf 1201 Proprietary Limited South Africa 100
Newshelf 1186 Proprietary Limited South Africa 100

Parent company
Gold One Africa Limited South Africa

Ultimate Parent Company
BCX Gold Investment Holdings Limited China

Other Related Parties 

Gold One International Limited Australia
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary Limited South Africa
Micawber 400 Proprietary Limited South Africa
Mvelephanda Holdings Proprietary Limited South Africa

Related Party Balances

Note Reference 

Investment in subsidiaries Refer to note 14
Loan accounts owing by subsidiaries Refer to note 14 and 15
Loans owing to related parties Refer to note 15
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

29. Related Parties (continued)

Related Party Transactions

Interest Received from Subsidiary
Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited - - 34 199 -

Interest Paid
Gold One International (1 301) - (1 301) -
Gold One Africa Limited (542) - (542) -
New Kleinfontein Gold Mine Proprietary Limited (14) - (14) -

(1 857) - (1 857) -

Other Income
Dividends received from Witnigel Investments
Proprietary Limited - - 27 564 -

Management Fees Paid 
Gold One International Limited (5 943) (505) (5 943) (505)

Related party transactions were conducted on an arms's length basis. 

Goliath Gold is managed primarily by the employees and executives of Gold One. This management fee represents
the reimbursement of costs incurred on an arm's length basis.

30. Directors' Remuneration

Non-Executive
2012

Short Term
Salary and / or

Fees
R '000 

Total
R '000

M Wheatley 175 175
K Rayner 175 175
J Vilakazi 145 145
P Nel 139 139

634 634
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30. Directors' Remuneration (continued)

The following non-executive director fees related to services rendered to Goliath Gold prior to the reverse acquisition
of Megamine. In 2011, Goliath Gold has a nine month financial period ending 31 December 2011.

2011
Short Term

Salary and / or
Fees

R '000 
Total

R '000

M Wheatley 150 150
K Rayner 113 113
D Hodgson (resigned 12 September 2011) 74 74
P Lambert (resigned 26 August 2011) 86 86
J Vilakazi (appointed 21 June 2011) 79 79
P Nel (appointed 29 July 2011) 77 77

579 579

Executive directors are employees of the parent entity, Gold One, and do not receive compensation for services
rendered to Goliath Gold.

Number of Options

The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of Goliath
Gold and other key management personnel of the group, including their personally related parties, are set below.

Vested and Exercisable at
31 December

Executive Directors Opening
Balance 

Shares
Granted

Resigned /
Retired

Closing
Balance 2012 2011

CD Chadwick - 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 - -
R Stewart * - 1 000 000 - 1 000 000 - -

*R Stewart was appointed as CEO effective from 01 January 2013.

Details of the share option scheme are fully set out in note 22.

31. Risk Management

Capital Risk Management

The group manages its capital to ensure that the group will be able to continue as a going concern, while maximising
the return to stakeholders and benefits for the stakeholders. 

The board's policy is to maintain a capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business.

The board monitors the return on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total
shareholders' equity. However, currently as the group has moved to an exploration phase there is no net operating
income. The board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

There were no changes in the group's approach to capital management during the year. Neither the company nor any
of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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31. Risk Management (continued)

Financial Risk Management

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Liquidity Risk

The group's liquidity risk is a result of the funds available to cover ongoing commitments. The group receives funding
solely from its parent company to continue its exploration programme. 

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the group in and aggregated by group finance. Group
finance monitors rolling forecasts of the group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet
operational needs. Such forecasting takes into consideration the group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance
and compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above balance required for working capital management are
transferred to the group treasury. Group treasury invests surplus cash in interest bearing current accounts, time
deposits, money market deposits and marketable securities, choosing instruments with appropriate maturities or
sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient headroom as determined by the above-mentioned forecasts. At the reporting
date, the group held funds of ZAR 12.514 million and ZAR 12.508 million for the group and company respectively that
are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the
impact of discounting is not significant.

Group

2012 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Loans from related parties 15 223 - - -
Trade and other payables 2 394 - - -

2011 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Trade and other payables 1 309 - - -

Company

2012 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Loans from related parties 6 518 - - -
Trade and other payables 774 - - -

2011 Less than
1 year

More than 1
year

Between 2
and 5 years

Over
5 years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Trade and other payables 1 309 - - -
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31. Risk Management (continued)

Interest Rate Risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact the value of short term cash investments and financing activities, giving rise to
interest rate risk. The group does not actively manage interest rate risk as the bulk of the risk exposure relates to
intercompany balances. 

A change of 50 basis point in interest rates at the end of the year would have increased / (decreased) profit or loss by
the amounts shown below:

Group
Profit or Loss

Company
Profit or Loss

2012

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

Loans to related parties - - 2 661 (2 661)
Loans from related parties (76) 76 (33) 33
Restricted cash 8 (8) 8 (8)
Cash and cash equivalents 63 (63) 63 (63)

(5) 5 2 699 (2 699)

Group
Profit or Loss

Company
Profit or Loss

2011

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

50 bp
Increase

R '000

50 bp
Decrease

R '000

Restricted cash 4 (4) 4 (4)

4 (4) 4 (4)
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31. Risk Management (continued)

Credit Risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of related party loans were assessed at the time of sale of the
Megamine business to Far East Gold. The recoverability of the loan is tested on an annual basis. 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, receivables and restricted cash. The amounts are deposited with
financial institutions with a minimum of an "A" credit rating. There were no receivables or loans to group companies
that were beyond their credit limits or payment terms.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at period end were as follows:

`

Group Company
Financial Instrument Note 2012

R '000
2011

R '000
2012

R '000
2011

R '000
Loans to group companies 15 - - 532 199 -
Receivables 18 694 122 692 122
Restricted cash 19 1 648 721 1 648 721
Cash and cash equivalents 20 12 514 - 12 508 -

Accounting Classification and Fair Values

At year end, there were no financial instruments carried at fair value (2011: ZAR nil) and other financial instruments
carrying values approximate their fair value as described below:

Group Company

2012

Total
Carrying

Value
R '000

Fair
Value
R '000

Total
Carrying

Value
R '000

Fair
Value
R '000

Financial Assets
Loans to related parties 15 - - 532 199 532 199
Receivables 18 694 694 692 692
Restricted cash 19 1 648 1 648 1 648 1 648
Cash and cash equivalents 20 12 514 12 514 12 508 12 508

14 856 14 856 547 047 547 047

Financial Liabilities
Loans from related parties 15 15 223 15 223 6 518 6 518
Trade and other payables 25 2 394 2 394 774 774

17 617 17 617 7 292 7 292

2011
Financial Assets
Receivables 18 122 122 122 122
Restricted cash 19 721 721 721 721

843 843 843 843

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 1 309 1 309 1 309 1 309

1 309 1 309 1 309 1 309
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32. Asset Value per Share

Group
2012 2011

Net asset value per share (cents) 101.5 39.6
Net tangible asset value per share (cents) 50.4 39.6

The net asset value and the net tangible asset value per share at 31 December 2012 is based on total number of
shares issued of 147,354,905 (2011: 104,891,947).

33. Subsequent Events

In the opinion of the directors, no subsequent event or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2012 that requires
additional disclosure.
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 December 2012.

1. DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITIES

HOLDING

NUMBER OF

SHAREHOLDERS PERCENTAGE NUMBER OF SHARES PERCENTAGE

1 - 1 000 Shares  1 040 71.33%  200 201 0.14%

1 001 - 5 000 Shares  189 12.96%  521 466 0.35%

5 001 - 10 000 Shares  66 4.53%  517 572 0.35%

10 001 - 100 000 Shares  127 8.71%  3 871 440 2.63%

100 001 - 1 000 000 Shares  28 1.92%  6 305 099 4.28%

1 000 001 Shares and Over  8 0.55%  135 939 127 92.25%

 1 458 100%  147 354 905 100%

2. PUBLIC/NON-PUBLIC EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

NUMBER OF

SHAREHOLDERS PERCENTAGE
NUMBER OF 

SHARES PERCENTAGE

Public  1 456 99.86%  27 670 823 18.78%

Non-Public  2 0.14%  119 684 082 81.22%

- PSL Client Safe Custody Asset  1 0.07%  13 576 835 9.21%

- Wholly Owned Subsidiary  1 0.07%  106 107 247 72.01%

 1 458 100%  147 354 905 100%
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3. EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

The names of the 10 largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below.

NAME NUMBER OF SHARES PERCENTAGE OF ISSUED SHARES

Gold One Africa Limited  106 107 247 72.01%

PSL Client Safe Custody Asset  13 576 835 9.21%

Six Sis Limited  4 999 135 3.39%

LLC Pershing  3 748 111 2.54%

Titan Share Dealers (Pty) Limited #7  2 957 590 2.01%

Crater Valley Property Investment  1 368 209 0.93%

Parkview Trust  1 220 000 0.83%

The Viking Trust (Nip421)  1 032 000 0.70%

JWA Trust  1 020 000 0.69%

KB Bower Investments Limited  622 750 0.42%

Total 136 651 877 92.73%

4. MAJOR EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

Major holders of quoted equity securities in the company, insofar as it is known to the board, that directly hold a beneficial 
interest of 5% or more, are set out below.

NAME NUMBER OF SHARES PERCENTAGE OF ISSUED SHARES

Gold One Africa Limited  106 107 247 72.01%

PSL Client Safe Custody Asset  13 576 835 9.21%

5. VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attaching to the equity securities are set out below.

(a) Ordinary Shares

On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and upon a poll shall 
have one vote for every share held in the company by such a shareholder.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your Central 
Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Goliath Gold will be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 
30 April 2013 at the office of the majority shareholder, Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, Ground Floor, Corner 14th 
Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter Street, Weltevreden Park, 1709, for the purpose of considering, and, if deemed fit, passing, with or 
without modification, the resolutions set out hereafter.

The board of directors of the Company (“the Board”) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 
of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders 
of the Company are entitled to participate in and vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 19 April 2013. Accordingly, the 
last day to trade Goliath Gold shares in order to be recorded in the Register to be entitled to vote will be Friday, 12 April 2013.

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

The purpose of the meeting is for the following business to be transacted:

1. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Approval of financial statements

To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 
31 December 2012, including the reports of the auditors, directors and the Goliath Gold Audit Committee.

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Election of Jerry Vilakazi as a director

To re-elect Jerry Vilakazi who, in terms of Article 75 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, retires by rotation 
at this Annual General Meeting but, being eligible to do so, offers himself for re-election.

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Election of Richard Stewart as a director

To elect Richard Stewart who, in terms of Article 83 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, was appointed by 
the directors on 1 January 2013 and as such only holds office until this Annual General Meeting but, being eligible to do so, 
offers himself for election. 

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each director offering himself for re-election appears on page 28 and page 29 
of the annual report to which this notice of Annual General Meeting is attached. 

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration Number: 1933/004523/06)
ISIN: ZAE000154753
Share Code: GGM
(“Goliath Gold” or “the Company”)

(formerly White Water Resources Limited)
M I N I N G  L I M I T E D
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4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
Election of Keith Rayner to the Audit Committee

To appoint Keith Rayner as a member and chairman of the Goliath Gold Audit Committee. 

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Election of Jerry Vilakazi to the Audit Committee

To appoint Jerry Vilakazi as a member of the Goliath Gold Audit Committee. 

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6
Election of Piet Nel to the Audit Committee

To appoint Piet Nel as a member of the Goliath Gold Audit Committee. 

An abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each member of the Audit Committee appears on page 28 and page 29 of the 
annual report to which this notice of Annual General Meeting is attached. 

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7
Appointment of Independent Auditors

To confirm the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as independent auditors of the Company with Hendrik 
Odendaal being the individual registered auditor who will undertake the audit of the Company for the ensuing financial 
year and to authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

The minimum percentage of voting rights required for each of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 7 above to be adopted is 
more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on each of the resolutions by shareholders present or represented 
by proxy at the Annual General Meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

As special business to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following resolutions:

8. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 
Non-executive Directors’ remuneration

“Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of sections 66(9) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, 
(“Companies Act”) the annual remuneration payable to the non-executive directors of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the 
Company”) for their services as directors of the Company for the financial years ending 31 December 2013 and 31 December 
2014, be and is hereby approved as follows:

Board Meetings

DESIGNATION

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Base fee 330 000 180 000

Fee per quarterly board meeting 30 000 30 000

Aggregate fees per annum if director attends 
four meetings

450 000 300 000
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Committee Meetings

DESIGNATION FEE PER MEETING*

Audit Committee Chairman 50 000

Chairman of other committees 15 000

Members of committees 10 000
 *Committee fees are only payable when a committee meeting is not held on the same day as a board meeting.

Review Meetings and Site Visits

DESIGNATION FEE PER REVIEW/SITE VISIT**

Non-executive director 10 000
**Subject to a maximum of two reviews and/or site visits per quarter.

Explanatory note 

In terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, a company is required to pre-approve the payment of remuneration to 
non-executive directors for their services as directors for the ensuing financial year by means of a special resolution passed 
by shareholders of the Company within the previous 2 (two) years. 

Special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) 
of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8
Approval of remuneration policy

“Resolved that the remuneration policy of the directors of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”), as set out 
below, be and is hereby approved as a non-binding advisory vote of shareholders of the Company in terms of the King III 
Report on Corporate Governance.”

Principles used to determine the amount and nature of remuneration

The performance of the company depends upon the calibre of its directors and executives. The following principles are 
included in its remuneration framework to ensure maximum stakeholder benefits.

• Provide competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain high calibre executives
• Have a portion of executive remuneration ‘at risk’, dependent upon meeting pre-determined service periods and 

performance benchmarks
• Periodically reassess the appropriateness of the nature and amount of executive emoluments by reference to 

relevant employment market conditions
• Transparency
• Capital management.

In consultation with external remuneration consultants the group has structured an executive remuneration framework 
that is market competitive, complementary to the reward strategy of the organisation, and aligned to shareholder’s and 
executive’s interests. Principles of alignment to shareholders’ interests:

• Has economic profit as a core component of plan design
• Focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price and delivering 

constant return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value
• Attracts and retains high calibre executives.

Principles of alignment to executive’s interests:

• Rewards capability and experience
• Reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth
• Provides a clear structure for earning rewards
• Provides recognition for contribution.
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The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay and a blend of short and long term incentives. As executives gain 
seniority within the group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of ‘at risk’ rewards. 

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more 
than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 
meeting.

10. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9
Control of authorised but unissued ordinary shares

“Resolved that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”) 
be and are hereby placed under the control and authority of the directors of the Company (“directors”) and that the 
directors be and are hereby authorised and empowered to allot and issue all or any of such ordinary shares, or to issue any 
options in respect of all or any of such ordinary shares, to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as 
the directors may from time to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions of sections 38 and 41 of the 
Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and the Listings 
Requirements of JSE Limited, as amended from time to time.”

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more 
than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 
meeting.

11. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10
Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash

“Resolved that the directors of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”) and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to 
time be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to:

• Allot and issue, or to issue any options in respect of all or any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company; and/or

• Sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, or issue any options in respect of ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company,

for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time in their 
discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of the Company and its subsidiaries and the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited (“the JSE Listings Requirements”) as 
amended from time to time. 

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that:

• The securities which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

• Any such issue may only be made to “public shareholders” as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to 
related parties;

• The number of ordinary shares issued for cash shall not in any 1 (one) financial year in the aggregate exceed 15% 
(fifteen percent) of the number of issued ordinary shares. The number of ordinary shares which may be issued shall 
be based, inter alia, on the number of ordinary shares in issue, added to those that may be issued in future (arising 
from the conversion of options/convertibles) at the date of such application, less any ordinary shares issued, or to 
be issued in future arising from options/convertible ordinary shares issued during the current financial year; plus 
any ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to a rights issue which has been announced, is irrevocable and is fully 
underwritten, or an acquisition which has had final terms announced;

• This general authority will be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the expiry of 
a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given;

• An announcement giving full details, including the impact on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per 
share, earnings per share and headline earnings per share and, if applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings 
per share, will be published when the Company has issued ordinary shares representing, on a cumulative basis 
within 1 (one) financial year, 5% (five percent) or more of the number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the issue;

• In determining the price at which an issue of ordinary shares may be made in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price on the JSE Limited of the 
ordinary shares over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the 
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issuer and the party subscribing for the securities; and
• Whenever the Company wishes to use ordinary shares, held as treasury stock by a subsidiary of the Company, such 

use must comply with the JSE Listings Requirements as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary shares.”

Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution number 10 must be passed by a 75% (seventy-five percent) 
majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all members present or represented by proxy at the Annual General 
Meeting.

12. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
General approval to acquire shares

“Resolved, by way of a general approval that Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”) and/or any of its subsidiaries 
from time to time be and are hereby authorised to acquire ordinary shares in the Company in terms of sections 46 and 48 
of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited (“the JSE”), as amended from time to time. 

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that: 

• The acquisition of the ordinary shares must be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system 
and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counter party;

• This general authority shall only be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the 
expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution;

• In determining the price at which the Company’s ordinary shares are acquired in terms of this general authority, 
the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average of the market value at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the 5 (five) 
business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction is effected;

• At any point in time, the Company may only appoint 1 (one) agent to effect any acquisition/s on its behalf; 
• The acquisitions of ordinary shares in the aggregate in any 1 (one) financial year may not exceed 20% (twenty 

percent) of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital;
• The Company may only effect the repurchase once a resolution has been passed by the board of directors of the 

Company (“the Board”) confirming that the Board has authorised the repurchase, that the Company has passed 
the solvency and liquidity test (“test”) and that since the test was done there have been no material changes to the 
financial position of the Group;

• The Company or its subsidiaries may not acquire ordinary shares during a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 
3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements;

• An announcement will be published once the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent) of the 
number of the ordinary shares in issue at the time this general authority is granted (“initial number”), and for each 
3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number acquired thereafter.”

Explanatory note
The purpose of this special resolution number 2 is to obtain an authority for, and to authorise, the Company and the 
Company’s subsidiaries, by way of a general authority, to acquire the Company’s issued ordinary shares.

It is the intention of the directors of the Company to use such authority should prevailing circumstances (including tax 
dispensations and market conditions) in their opinion warrant it.

Special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) 
of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

12.1 Other disclosure in terms of section 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements 

The JSE Listings Requirements require the following disclosures, which are contained in the annual report of which this 
notice of Annual General Meeting forms part:

• Directors and management – page 28; 
• Major shareholders of the Company – page 94; 
• Directors’ interests in securities – page 45;
• Share capital of the Company – page 45; and 
• Litigation statement – page 45 . 
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Material change 

There have been no material changes in the affairs or financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the 
Company’s financial year end and the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ responsibility statement 

The directors, whose names are given on page 28 of the annual report of which this notice of Annual General Meeting 
forms part, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to special 
resolution number 2, and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts in relation to special 
resolution number 2 that have been omitted that would make any statement in relation to special resolution number 2 
false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that special resolution 
number 2 together with this notice of Annual General Meeting contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings 
Requirements in relation to special resolution number 2.

Adequacy of working capital 

At the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take place, the directors of the Company will ensure that, after 
considering the effect of the maximum repurchase and for a period of twelve months thereafter: 

• The Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course of 
business;

• The consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly valued in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, will be in excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries;

• The issued share capital and reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for the purpose of the 
ordinary business of the Company and its subsidiaries; and

• The working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries will be sufficient for the Group’s requirements.

The Company may not enter the market to proceed with the repurchase until its sponsor, Merchantec (Pty) Limited, has 
discharged of all of its responsibilities in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements insofar as they apply to working capital 
statements for the purposes of undertaking an acquisition of its issued ordinary shares.

13. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 
Financial assistance for subscription of securities 

“Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, 
(“Companies Act”), the shareholders of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”) hereby approve of the Company 
providing, at any time and from time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this special 
resolution number 3, financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, as contemplated 
in section 44 of the Companies Act, to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for any option, 
or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any 
securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company, provided that:

(a) The board of directors of the Company (“the Board”), from time to time, determines (i) the specific recipient, 
or general category of potential recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such 
financial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided; and

(b) The Board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution 
number 3 unless the Board meets all those requirements of section 44 of the Companies Act which it is required to 
meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such financial assistance.”

Explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution number 3 is to grant the Board the authority to authorise the Company to provide 
financial assistance to any aforementioned person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for any option 
or securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company. 

Special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) 
of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.
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14. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 
Loans or other financial assistance to directors 

“Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, 
(“Companies Act”) the shareholders of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”) hereby approve of the Company 
providing, at any time and from time to time during the period of 2 (two) years commencing on the date of this special 
resolution number 4, any direct or indirect financial assistance (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or 
other obligation, and securing any debt or obligation) as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to a director 
or prescribed officer of the Company, or to a related or inter-related company or corporation or to a member of any such 
related or inter-related corporation or to a person related to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer 
or member provided that:

(a) The board of directors of the Company (“the Board”), from time to time, determines (i) the specific recipient 
or general category of potential recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such 
financial assistance; (iii) the terms and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided, and

(b) The Board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution 
number 4 unless the Board meets all those requirements of section 45 of the Companies Act which it is required to 
meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such financial assistance.”

Explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution number 4 is to grant the Board the authority to authorise the Company to provide 
financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to a director or prescribed officer of the Company, 
or to a related or inter-related company or corporation, or to a member of a related or inter-related corporation, or to a 
person related to any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer or member. 

Special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy-five percent) 
of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Notice given to shareholders of the Company in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act of a resolution adopted by 
the Board authorising the Company to provide such direct or indirect financial assistance in respect of special resolution 
number 4:

(a) By the time that this notice of Annual General Meeting is delivered to shareholders of the Company, the Board will 
have adopted a resolution (“Section 45 Board Resolution”) authorising the Company to provide, at any time and 
from time to time during the period of two years commencing on the date on which special resolution number 4 
is adopted, any direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act (which 
includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other obligation, and securing any debt or obligation) to a director 
or prescribed officer of the Company or of a related or inter-related company, or to a related or inter-related 
company or corporation, or to a member of any such related or inter-related corporation, or to a person related to 
any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer or a member;

(b) The Section 45 Board Resolution will be effective only if and to the extent that special resolution number 4 is 
adopted by the shareholders of the Company, and the provision of any such direct or indirect financial assistance by 
the Company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be subject to the Board being satisfied that (i) immediately 
after providing such financial assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as referred to in 
section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, and (ii) the terms under which such financial assistance is to be given are 
fair and reasonable to the Company as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the Companies Act; and

(c) In as much as the Section 45 Board Resolution contemplates that such financial assistance will in the aggregate 
exceed one-tenth of 1% (one percent) of the Company’s net worth at the date of adoption of such resolution, and 
until the next Annual General Meeting, the Company hereby provides notice of the Section 45 Board Resolution to 
shareholders of the Company. Such notice will also be provided to any trade union representing any employees of 
the Company. 
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15. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Adoption of Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company

“Resolved that, as a special resolution, the new Memorandum of Incorporation of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“Goliath 
Gold” or “the Company”), a copy of which has been tabled at this Annual General Meeting for purposes of identification, be 
and is hereby adopted in accordance with the provisions of section 16(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), 
as amended (“Companies Act”) and in compliance with Schedule 10 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”), 
with effect from the date of approval of this special resolution number 5.”

The board of directors of Goliath Gold has passed a resolution proposing that this special resolution number 5 is adopted 
for the purpose of ensuring that the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation is in line with the Companies Act and in 
compliance with Schedule 10 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE. The salient features of the Company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation are set out in Annexure 1 to this notice of Annual General Meeting.

The Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, or a copy thereof, will be available for inspection at the majority 
shareholder’s registered office at Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, Ground Floor, Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik 
Potgieter Street, Weltevreden Park, 1709, during normal business hours from the date of issue of this Notice of Annual 
General Meeting up to and including the date of the Annual General Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Explanatory note

The purpose of this special resolution 5 is for the Company to comply with the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, which require a listed company to amend its entire Memorandum of Incorporation to bring it in harmony 
with the provisions of the Companies Act and Schedule 10 of the JSE Listings Requirements within 2 (two) years from 1 
May 2011.

Special resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from at least 75% (seventy five percent) 
of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

16. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11
Signature of documents

“Resolved that each director and the company secretary of Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“the Company”) be and is hereby 
individually authorised to sign all such documents and do all such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the 
implementation of those resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting convened to consider the resolutions 
which are passed, in the case of ordinary resolutions, or are passed and registered (where applicable) by the Companies and 
Intellectual Property Commission, in the case of special resolutions.”

Ordinary resolutions to be adopted at this Annual General Meeting require approval from a simple majority, which is more 
than 50% (fifty percent) of the votes exercised on such resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the 
meeting.

17. OTHER BUSINESS

To transact such other business as may be transacted at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Voting and proxies

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend 
and act in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. For the convenience of registered members of the 
Company, a form of proxy is attached hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:

• Hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or
• Are recorded on the sub-register in “own name” dematerialised form.
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Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker without “own name” 
registration and who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with 
the relevant Letter of Representation to attend the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend 
in person or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody 
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited, at least 
48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

Kindly note that meeting participants, which includes proxies, are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification 
before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity 
documents, driver’s licences and passports.

By order of the Board

Pierre Kruger
Company Secretary
28 March 2013
Johannesburg
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ANNEXURE 1 
SALIENT FEATURES OF THE MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

For the purpose of this Annexure 1, “Act” refers to the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, consolidated or 
re-enacted from time to time, and includes all schedules to such Act and the Regulations.

A reference to a section by number refers to the corresponding section of the Act, notwithstanding the renumbering of such 
section after the date on which the Company is incorporated.

A reference to a clause by number refers to a corresponding provision of the Memorandum of Incorporation.

In any instance where there is a conflict between a provision (be it expressed, implied or tacit) of the Memorandum of 
Incorporation and:

• A provision of any shareholders agreement, the provision of the Memorandum of Incorporation shall prevail to the extent of 
the conflict;

• An alterable or elective provision of the Act, the provision of the Memorandum of Incorporation shall prevail to the extent of 
the conflict; and

• An unalterable or non-elective provision of the Act, the unalterable or non-elective provision of the Act shall prevail to 
the extent of the conflict unless the Memorandum of Incorporation imposes on the company a higher standard, greater 
restriction, longer period of time or similarly more onerous requirement, in which event the relevant provision of the 
Memorandum of Incorporation shall prevail to the extent of the conflict.

5. AMENDMENTS TO THE MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

5.1. All amendments of the Memorandum of Incorporation shall be effected in accordance with a special resolution 
passed by the Holders of the Ordinary Shares and sections 16(1) and 16(4), read with section 17(1) of the Companies 
Act, save for correcting errors substantiated as such from objective evidence or which are self-evident errors 
(including, but without limitation eiusdem generis, spelling, punctuation, reference, grammar or similar defects) in 
the Memorandum of Incorporation, which the Board is empowered to do. Should the Board make such corrections, 
the Board shall publish a copy of any such correction effected by the Board on the Company’s website.

6. THE MAKING OF RULES

The Board shall not make rules as contemplated in section 15(3) of the Companies Act. 

7. AUTHORISED SECURITIES AND ALLOTMENT AND ISSUE

7.1. The Company has the authority to issue 200,000,000 (two hundred million) Ordinary Shares with a par value of 
ZAR 2.50 (two rand and fifty cents) each. 

7.2. Every holder of an ordinary share has one vote in respect of each share that it holds and is entitled to vote at every 
shareholders meeting in person or by proxy.

7.3. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, the Board shall not without the prior approval of a special 
resolution have the power to:
7.3.1. Create any class of shares;
7.3.2. Consolidate or subdivide shares; 
7.3.3. Amend the authorised share capital (including increasing the number of securities of a class);
7.3.4. Convert any class of shares in the Company into one or more other classes (including determining rights 

and preferences);
7.3.5. Vary preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any class of shares in the Company and no resolution 

may be proposed to the Holders for rights to include such variation in response to any objectively 
ascertainable external facts or facts as provided for in sections 37(6) and 37(7) of the Companies Act; 
and/or

7.3.6. Change the name of the Company.
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7.4. To the extent that the Company immediately before 1 May 2011 had authorised but unissued par value shares in 
its capital of a class of which there are issued shares, the unissued shares of that class may during the permitted 
period in terms of the Companies Act, read with the Regulations, be issued at par or at a premium or at a discount.

7.5. All securities of a class shall rank pari passu in all respects.
7.6. No privileges or conditions for the time being attached to any class of securities of the Company nor any interest 

in that class of securities may (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the securities of that class) 
whether or not the Company is being wound up, be varied in any manner adverse to the Holders of that class of 
securities, nor may any variations be made to the rights, privileges or conditions of any class of securities, such that 
the interests of another class of securities is adversely affected unless the consent in Writing of the Holders of not 
less than 75% (seventy-five percent) of the issued securities of that adversely affected class of securities has been 
obtained, or a special resolution has been passed by the Holders of that adversely affected class of securities with 
support of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights exercised on the special resolution at a separate 
meeting of the Holders of that class. The provisions of this Memorandum of Incorporation relating to shareholders 
meetings shall mutatis mutandis apply to any such separate shareholders meeting.

8. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SECURITIES

8.1. The Board shall not have the power to issue authorised securities (other than as contemplated in clause 8.5 below) 
without the prior approval contemplated in clause 8.2 below and the approval of the JSE (where necessary).

8.2. As regards the issue of:
8.2.1. Shares contemplated in sections 41(1) and (3) of the Companies Act or as contemplated in The Listings 

Requirements 5.50, the directors shall not have the power to allot or issue same without the prior 
approval of a special resolution; and

8.2.2. Shares, other than those contemplated in clause 8.2.1 above, and other securities including options in 
respect thereof, the directors shall not have the power to allot or issue same without the prior approval 
of an ordinary resolution, 

provided that such issue has been approved by the JSE.

8.3. No special privileges may be granted to secured and unsecured debt instruments as contemplated in section 43(3) 
of the Companies Act.

8.4. Any approval to allot and issue securities contemplated in clause 8.2 above, may either be in the form of a general 
authority to the directors, whether conditional or unconditional, to allot or issue any such securities in their 
discretion, or in the form of a specific authority in respect of any particular allotment or issue of such securities. 
Such authority shall endure for the period provided in the ordinary resolution or special resolution in question but 
may be revoked by ordinary resolution or special resolution, as the case may be, at any time.

8.5. The Board may issue capitalisation shares or offer a cash payment in lieu of awarding a capitalisation share, 
provided such issue is effected at least in accordance with section 47 of the Companies Act. 

8.6. No shares of a class for which a listing is to be sought may be issued other than as fully paid and freely transferable.

11. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR THE ACQUISITION OF SECURITIES

Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, the Board’s powers to provide direct or indirect financial assistance 
as contemplated in section 44(2) of the Companies Act are not limited in any manner. 

12. PROHIBITION REGARDING THE COMPANY TAKING ANY LIEN

 The Company shall not be entitled to take any lien over any securities issued by it.

15. COMMISSION

The Company may pay commission not exceeding 10% (ten percent) of the subscription price at which securities of 
the Company are issued to any person, in consideration of it subscribing or agreeing to subscribe, whether absolutely or 
conditionally, for any securities or of its procuring or agreeing to procure subscriptions, whether absolute or conditional, 
for any securities. 
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16. TRANSFER OF SECURITIES

16.1. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, any holder may transfer its securities freely.

17. TRANSMISSION OF SECURITIES BY OPERATION OF LAW

Subject to the provisions of the Statutes relating to securities transfer tax upon or in respect of the estates of deceased 
persons and the administration of the estates of insolvent and deceased persons and persons under disability:

17.1. The parent or guardian or curator of any holder who is a minor;
17.2. The trustee of an insolvent holder;
17.3. The liquidator of a body corporate holder;
17.4. The tutor or curator of a holder under disability;
17.5. The executor or administrator of the estate of a deceased holder; or
17.6. Any other person becoming entitled to any securities held by a holder by any lawful means other than transfer in 

terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation, 
shall, upon production of such evidence as may be required by the Board, have the right either:
17.6.1. To exercise the same rights and to receive the same distributions and other advantages to which he/

she would be entitled if he/she were the holder of the securities registered in the name of the holder 
concerned; or

17.6.2. Himself/Herself to be registered as the holder in respect of those securities and to make such transfer 
of those securities as the holder concerned could have made, but the Board shall have the same right to 
decline or suspend registration as they would have had in the case of a transfer of the securities by the 
holder.

18. ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.1. The Company shall notify the Holders and the Holders of beneficial interests of the publication of any Annual 
Financial sStatements of the Company, setting out the steps required to obtain a copy of those financial statements. 
If a holder or holder of beneficial interests demands a copy of the Annual Financial Statements, the Company shall 
make same available to such holder or holder of beneficial Interests free of charge.

20. SHAREHOLDERS MEETINGS AND ROUND ROBIN RESOLUTIONS

20.1. The Company shall convene an Annual General Meeting once in every calendar year, but no more than 15 (fifteen) 
Months after the date of the previous Annual General Meeting, or within an extended time allowed by the 
Companies Tribunal, on good cause shown, which must, at a minimum, provide for the following business to be 
transacted:
20.1.1. Presentation of:

20.1.1.1. Audited Annual Financial Statements, including the Directors’ Report, for the immediately 
preceding financial year; and

20.1.1.2. An Audit Committee report;
20.1.2. Election of directors, to the extent required by the Statutes or the Memorandum of Incorporation;
20.1.3. Appointment of:

20.1.3.1. An Auditor for the ensuing year;
20.1.3.2. An Audit Committee;

20.1.4. Any matters raised by Holders, with or without advance notice to the Company.
20.2. Subject to clause 20.3, the Company shall, as determined by the Board, either:

20.2.1. Hold a shareholders meeting in order to consider one or more resolutions; or 
20.3. All shareholder meetings that are called for in terms of the Listings Requirements must be held in person and may 

not be held by means of a Round Robin Resolution. 
20.6. All shareholders meetings shall be held at the offices from time to time of the Company or at such other venue as 

the Board may from time to time determine. 
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20.11. The holder of any securities that are in uncertificated form, and that has elected to receive notices (“elected to 
receive notice”), or is in certificated form, and thus not subject to the rules of Strate as the Central Securities 
Depository, in which any person has a beneficial interest, must deliver to each such person:
20.11.1. A notice of any shareholders meeting of the Company at which those securities may be voted within 2 

(two) business days after receiving such a notice from the Company; and
20.11.2. A proxy appointment to the extent of that person’s beneficial interest, if the person so demands in 

compliance with section 56(11) of the Companies Act.
20.12. Save as provided for in clause 20.13 below, a shareholders meeting shall be called by at least 15 (fifteen) business 

days’ notice delivered by the Company to all Holders entitled to vote or otherwise entitled to receive notice and to 
the JSE and the ASX if required by the Statutes. An announcement shall also be made on SENS and the equivalent 
public announcement system of the ASX where required by the Statutes.

20.13. The Company may, subject to JSE approval, call a shareholders meeting with less notice than required by clause 
20.12, but such a shareholders meeting may proceed only if, in accordance with section 62(2A) of the Companies 
Act, every person who is entitled to exercise voting rights in respect of any item on the meeting agenda:
20.13.1. Is present at a meeting; and
20.13.2. Votes to waive the required minimum notice of the shareholders meeting. 

20.15. A notice of a shareholders meeting must be in Writing, in plain language and must include:
20.15.1. The date, time and place for the shareholders meeting, and the record date for the meeting;
20.15.2. The general purpose of the shareholders meeting, and any specific purpose contemplated in clause 20.6, 

if applicable;
20.15.3. In the case of the Annual General Meeting, a copy of the summarised Annual Financial Statements, 

compliant with the Listings Requirements, for the preceding financial year, unless it has distributed them 
previously;

20.15.4. A copy of any proposed resolution of which the Company has received notice, and which is to be 
considered at the shareholders meeting, and a notice of the percentage of voting rights that will be 
required for that resolution to be adopted; and

20.15.5. A reasonably prominent statement that:
20.15.5.1. A holder entitled to attend and vote at the shareholders meeting shall be entitled to appoint 

a proxy to attend, participate in, speak and vote at the shareholders meeting in the place of 
the holder entitled to vote; 

20.15.5.2. A proxy need not be a holder;
20.15.5.3. A holder entitled to vote may appoint more than 1 (one) proxy to exercise voting rights 

attached to different securities held by that holder entitled to vote in respect of any 
shareholders meeting; 

20.15.5.4. The proxy may delegate the authority granted to him as proxy, subject to any restriction in the 
proxy itself; and

20.19. A person who holds a beneficial interest in any securities may vote in a matter at a shareholders meeting, without 
a proxy only to the extent that:
20.19.1. the beneficial interest includes the right to vote on the matter; and
20.19.2. the person’s name is on the Company’s register of disclosures if one is required to be kept in terms of 

section 56(7) of the Companies Act, as the holder of a beneficial interest. 
20.20. Business may be transacted at any shareholders meeting only while a quorum is present.
20.21. The quorum necessary for a shareholders meeting shall be sufficient persons present at a meeting to exercise, in 

aggregate, at least 25% (twenty-five percent) of all of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised, including 
compliance with schedule 10.5(c) and (h) of the Listing Requirement if applicable, in respect of at least one matter 
to be decided at the shareholders meeting and: 
20.21.1. The shareholders meeting may not begin unless at least 3 (three) persons entitled to vote are present at 

a meeting; 
20.21.2. If the Company is a subsidiary of a company, those constituting the quorum must include its holding 

company present at a meeting; and 
20.21.3. If the Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary, the quorum shall be its holding company.

20.23. A shareholders meeting, or the consideration of any matter being debated at a shareholders meeting, may be 
adjourned from time to time without further notice on a motion supported by persons entitled to exercise, in 
aggregate, a majority of the voting rights:
20.23.1. Held by all of the persons who are present at a meeting at the time; and
20.23.2. That are entitled to be exercised on at least 1 (one) matter remaining on the agenda of the shareholders 

meeting, or on the matter under debate, as the case may be.
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20.24. An adjournment pursuant to clause 20.23 may be either to a fixed time and place or until further notice (in which 
latter case a further notice shall be delivered to Holders), as determined at the shareholders meeting. 

20.27. After a quorum has been established for a shareholders meeting, or for a matter to be considered at a shareholders 
meeting, the shareholders meeting may continue, or the matter may be considered, provided that all persons 
constituting a quorum remain present at a meeting.

20.29. At any shareholders meeting a resolution put to the vote shall be decided on a show of hands, unless before or on 
the declaration of the result of the show of hands a poll shall be demanded by:
20.29.1. No fewer than 5 (five) persons having the right to vote on that matter; or
20.29.2. A person/Persons entitled to exercise not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights entitled to vote 

on that matter; or
20.29.3. The chairman, 
 and, unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the chairman that a resolution has, on a show of hands 

been carried, or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the 
minute book of the Company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or 
proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, such resolution. No objection shall be raised as 
to the admissibility of any vote except at the shareholders meeting or adjourned shareholders meeting, 
at which the vote objected to is or may be given or tendered and every vote not disallowed at such 
shareholders meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection shall be referred to the chairman 
of the shareholders meeting, whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

20.30. If a poll is duly demanded it shall be taken in such manner as the chairman directs, save that it shall be taken 
forthwith, and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the shareholders meeting at which the 
poll is demanded. Scrutineers may be appointed by the chairman to declare the result of the poll, and if appointed 
their decision, which shall be given by the chairman of the shareholders meeting, shall be deemed to be the 
resolution of the shareholders meeting at which the poll is demanded. The demand for a poll shall not prevent the 
continuation of a shareholders meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question upon which the 
poll has been demanded. The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

20.33. Every resolution of shareholders is either an ordinary resolution or a special resolution. an ordinary resolution, 
save to the extent expressly provided in respect of a particular matter contemplated in this Memorandum of 
Incorporation, shall require to be adopted with the support of more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights 
exercised on the resolution. A special resolution, save to the extent expressly provided in respect of a particular 
matter contemplated in this Memorandum of Incorporation, shall require to be adopted with the support of at 
least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by Holders present at meeting. 
For so long as the Company is listed on the JSE, if any of the Listings Requirements require an ordinary resolution to 
be passed with at least a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority, the Company shall pass such resolution by way of a 
special resolution. 

20.39. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, a form appointing a proxy may be in any usual or common form, 
provided that it is in Writing. The Company shall supply a generally standard form of proxy upon request by a 
holder entitled to vote. 

20.40. If a proxy is received duly signed but with no indication as to how the person named therein should vote on any 
issue, the proxy may vote or abstain from voting as he sees fit. 

21. RECORD DATE

The Board shall determine the record date in accordance with the applicable rules of the Central Securities Depository and 
the Listings Requirements.

22. FIRST DIRECTORS, ELECTION OF DIRECTORS AND ALTERNATE DIRECTORS AND 
VACANCIES

22.1. The minimum number of directors shall be 4 (four) and the maximum number of directors shall be 9 (nine). Subject 
to the provisions of clause 22.10, any failure by the Company at any time to have the minimum number of directors 
does not limit or negate the authority of the Board, or invalidate anything done by the Board or the Company. 

22.2. At least one-third of the non-executive directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of 3 (three) 
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting or other shareholders meeting on an annual basis, provided that such Annual General Meeting or other 
annual shareholders meeting is not conducted in terms of section 60 of the Companies Act. Retiring directors 
shall be eligible for re-election. No person other than a director retiring at the Annual General Meeting or other 
shareholders meeting shall be eligible for election to the office of director at any Annual General Meeting or other 
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annual shareholders meeting unless recommended by the directors for election, provided that any shareholder 
may propose a person to be nominated as a director to the directors, well in advance of the compilation of notice 
of any shareholder meeting or Annual General Meeting, but such person will only be included in the relevant notice 
for election if the directors agree to and recommend such election. If at any Annual General Meeting or other 
annual shareholders meeting, the place of any retiring director is not filled, he shall, if willing, continue in office 
until the dissolution of the Annual General Meeting or other shareholders meeting in the next year, and so on from 
year to year until his place is filled, unless it shall be determined at such Annual General Meeting or other annual 
shareholders meeting not to fill such vacancy.

22.3. Each of the directors and the alternate directors other than a director contemplated in clause 22.9 shall be elected, 
which in the case of a vacancy arising shall take place at the next Annual General Meeting, in accordance with 
clause 22.6. A director, whose employment is subject to a fixed term contract, will only serve as a director for such 
term as contemplated in the fixed term employment contract. No director shall be appointed for an indefinite 
period. An alternate director shall serve in the place of 1 (one) or more director/s named in the resolution electing 
him/her during the director’s/directors’ absence or inability to act as director/s. If a person is an alternate director 
to more than 1 (one) director, or if an alternate director is also a director, he/she shall have a separate vote on 
behalf of each director that he/she is representing in addition to his/her own vote, if any.

22.4. There are no general qualifications prescribed by the Company for a person to serve as a director or an alternate 
director in addition to the requirements of the Companies Act. The Board, with the assistance of the Nominations 
Committee, must make recommendations to the Holders regarding the eligibility of persons nominated for 
election as directors, taking into account their past performance and contribution, if applicable. A brief curriculum 
vitae of each person standing for election or re-election as a director at an annual shareholders meeting or the 
Annual General Meeting, must accompany the notice of the Annual General Meeting or other annual shareholders 
meeting, as the case may be.

22.5. No director shall be entitled to appoint any person as an alternate director to himself/herself. 
22.6. In any election of directors and alternate directors the election is to be conducted as follows:

22.6.1. A series of votes of those Holders entitled to exercise votes regarding such election, each of which is on 
the candidacy of a single individual to fill a single vacancy with the series of votes continuing until all 
vacancies on the Board at that time have been filled; and 

22.6.2. In each vote to fill a vacancy:
22.6.2.1. Each voting right entitled to be exercised may be exercised once; and
22.6.2.2. The vacancy is filled only if a majority of the voting rights exercised support the candidate.

22.7. No person shall be elected as a director or alternate director if he is Ineligible or Disqualified and any such election 
shall be a nullity. A person who is Ineligible or Disqualified must not consent to be elected as a director or alternate 
director, nor act as a director or alternate director. A person placed under probation by a court must not serve as a 
director or an alternate director unless the order of court so permits.

22.8. No election of a director shall take effect until he/she has delivered to the Company a written consent to serve as 
such.

22.9. Any vacancy occurring on the Board may be filled by the Board, provided that the total number of directors shall 
not at any time exceed the maximum number of directors fixed by the Board, if any. Any appointment by the 
Board to fill a vacancy as aforesaid shall lapse at the termination of the first shareholders meeting following the 
appointment of such director by the Board, unless he/she is elected to the office of director at such shareholders 
meeting. 

22.10. The continuing directors (or sole continuing director) may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but, if 
and so long as their number is reduced, for a period exceeding 3 (three) Months, below the number fixed by or 
pursuant to this Memorandum of Incorporation as the minimum, the continuing directors or director may act only 
for the purpose of summoning a shareholders meeting or filling vacancies on the Board. 

22.11. If there is no director able and willing to act, then any holder entitled to exercise voting rights in the election of a 
director may convene a shareholders meeting for the purpose of electing directors. 

24. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND ALTERNATE DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF 
BOARD COMMITTEES

24.1. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, the directors or alternate directors or members of Board 
committees shall be entitled to such remuneration for their services as directors or alternate directors or members 
of Board committees as may have been determined from time to time by special resolution within the previous 
2 (two) years. In addition, the directors and alternate directors shall be entitled to all reasonable expenses in 
travelling (including hotels) to and from meetings of the directors and Holders, and the members of the Board 
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committees shall be entitled to all reasonable expenses in travelling (including hotels) to and from meetings of 
the members of the Board committees as determined by a disinterested quorum of directors. A director may 
be appointed to more than one Board committee. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, the 
Company may pay or grant any type of remuneration contemplated in sections 30(6)(b) to (g) of the Companies 
Act to any executive directors. 

24.2. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, a director may be employed in any other capacity in the 
Company or as a director or employee of a company controlled by, or itself a subsidiary of, the Company and 
in that event his/her appointment and remuneration in respect of such other office must be determined by a 
disinterested quorum of directors.

25. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS AND THEIR 
RELATED AND INTER RELATED PARTIES

25.1. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, the Board’s powers to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance as contemplated in section 45(2) are not limited in any manner.

26. GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

26.1. The powers of management granted to the Board in terms of section 66(1) of the Companies Act are unlimited, 
save for the fact that the total amount owing by the Company in respect of monies raised, borrowed or secured 
by the Board exercising their powers of management shall not exceed the amount authorised by its listed holding 
company and save also as may be otherwise expressly provided in this Memorandum of Incorporation. 

26.2. Subject to and to the extent permitted by the Statutes, for so long as the Company has only 1 (one) director, that 
director may exercise any power or perform any function of the Board at any time, without notice or compliance 
with any other internal formalities of the Company.

26.3. The Board must appoint a separate chief executive officer and executive financial director and may from time to 
time appoint 1 (one) or more of the directors to the office of managing director or manager on such terms as the 
Board deems fit. 

29. PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

29.1. A director authorised by the Board:
29.1.1. May, at any time, summon a meeting of the Board; and
29.1.2. Must call a meeting of the Board if required to do so by at least 2 (two) directors.

29.2. The Board may determine what period of notice shall be given of meetings of the Board and may determine 
the means of giving such notice which may include telephone, facsimile or electronic communication. It shall be 
necessary to give notice of a meeting of the Board to all directors even those for the time being absent from South 
Africa. 

29.3. If all of the directors:
29.3.1. Acknowledge actual receipt of the notice; 
29.3.2. Are present at a meeting of the Board; or
29.3.3. Waive notice of the meeting of the Board, 

 the meeting may proceed even if the Company failed to give the required notice of that meeting, or there was a 
defect in the giving of the notice.

29.4. The Board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as it thinks fit.
29.5. Unless otherwise resolved by the Board, all their meetings shall be held in the city or town where the Company’s 

registered office is for the time being situated. A meeting of the Board may be conducted by electronic communication 
and/or one or more directors may participate in a meeting of the Board by electronic communication so long as 
the electronic communication facility employed ordinarily enables all persons participating in that meeting to 
communicate concurrently with each other without an intermediary, and to participate effectively in the meeting.

29.6. The quorum for a Board meeting may be fixed from time to time by the Board, provided that until such time as the 
quorum is so fixed by the Board, it shall be at least a majority of the directors in office from time to time. 

29.7. The Board may elect a chairman, deputy chairman and/or any vice chairman of its meetings and determine the 
period for which he/she is to hold office; but if no such chairman, deputy chairman and/or vice chairman is elected, 
or if at any meeting the chairman, deputy chairman and/or any vice chairman are not present within 15 (fifteen) 
minutes after the time appointed for holding it, the directors present may choose one of their number to be the 
chairman, deputy chairman and/or vice chairman of the meeting.
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29.8. Each director has 1 (one) vote on a matter before the Board and a majority of the votes cast on a resolution is 
sufficient to approve that resolution. 

29.9. In the case of a tied vote the chairman may cast a deciding vote provided that no casting vote as aforesaid shall be 
permissible in the event that the quorum for a meeting of the Board is 2 (two) directors, and only 2 (two) directors 
are present at such meeting. Subject to the aforegoing, should the chairman appointed by the Company be a 
director that is involved in the day-to-day management of the Company’s business, then the director appointed 
by the Company as the Company’s appointed lead independent non-executive director shall be entitled to make 
such casting vote and failing such an appointment, the deputy chairman shall be entitled to make such casting 
vote, provided that the deputy chairman is similarly not involved in the day-to-day management of the Company’s 
business.

29.10. The Company must keep minutes of the meetings of the Board, and any of its committees, and include in the 
minutes:
29.10.1. Any declaration given by notice or made by a director as required by clause 28;
29.10.2. Every resolution adopted by the Board.

29.11. Resolutions adopted by the Board:
29.11.1. Must be dated and sequentially numbered; and 
29.11.2. Are effective as of the date of the resolution, unless the resolution states otherwise.

29.12. Any minutes of a meeting, or a resolution, signed by the chairman of the meeting, or by the chairman of the next 
meeting of the Board, are/is evidence of the proceedings of that meeting, or adoption of that resolution, as the 
case may be without the necessity for further proof of the facts stated.

29.13. A Round Robin Resolution shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board duly 
called and constituted, provided that each director in South Africa who is able to receive notice, has received notice 
of the matter to be decided upon. For the purposes hereof a Round Robin Resolution means a resolution passed 
other than at a meeting of directors, in respect of which, subject to clause 29.10, a majority of the directors (for 
which purpose one or more alternate directors shall be entitled to sign a Round Robin Resolution if one or more 
directors are not able to sign or timeously return a signed copy of the resolution, and without his vote the requisite 
majority cannot be achieved) voted in favour by signing in Writing a resolution in counterparts, within 20 (twenty) 
business days after the resolution was submitted to them. 

32. DISTRIBUTIONS 

32.1. Distributions may be declared and paid by the Board in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and 
the Listing Requirements and include cash dividends, the cash portion of scrip dividends and cash capital payments 
made to shareholders if: 
31.1.1 It reasonably appears that the Company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test immediately after 

completing the proposed distribution;
31.1.2 The Board, by resolution, has acknowledged that it has applied the solvency and liquidity test and 

reasonably concluded that the Company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test immediately after 
completing the proposed distribution; and

31.1.3  No obligation is imposed, if it is a distribution of capital, that the Company is entitled to require it to be 
subscribed again. 

34. NOTICES

34.1. The Company may give notices, documents, records or statements by personal delivery to the holder or by sending 
them prepaid by registered post or by transmitting them by facsimile or by electronic communication to such 
person’s last known address. The Company must give notice of:
34.1.1. Any meeting in the aforesaid manner to each person entitled to vote at such meeting, other than proxies 

and persons entitled to vote at such meeting who have elected not to receive such notice;
34.1.2. Availability of a document, record or statement to the holder either to his last known delivery address or 

last known Electronic Address.
34.2. Any holder or holder of beneficial interests who has furnished an Electronic Address to the Company, by doing so:

34.2.1. Authorises the Company to use electronic communication to give notices, documents, records or 
statements or notices of availability of the aforegoing to it; and

34.2.2. Confirms that same can conveniently be printed by the holder or holder of the beneficial interests within 
a reasonable time and at a reasonable cost. 

34.3. Any notice required to be given by the Company to the Holders, the holder of any beneficial interest or holder 
of a share warrant to bearer, and not expressly prohibiting the provisions of this clause from applying, shall be 
sufficiently given (subject to giving a notice of availability in accordance with clause 34.1 or 34.2), if given by 
posting it on the Company’s website until at least the date when the event to which the notice refers occurs. 
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FOR USE ONLY BY ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS WHO:

• Hold ordinary shares in certificated form (“certificated ordinary shareholders”); or
• Have dematerialised their ordinary shares (“dematerialised ordinary shareholders”) and are registered with “own-name” 

registration,

at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Goliath Gold to be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 30 April 2013 at the office of the 
majority shareholder, Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, Ground Floor, Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter Street, 
Weltevreden Park, 1709, and any adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own-name” registration who wish to attend the 
Annual General Meeting must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker of their intention to 
attend the Annual General Meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation 
to attend the Annual General Meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting 
in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody 
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone (work) (        )    Telephone (home) (        )   Cell

being the holder/custodian of  ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see note):

1.           or failing him /her,

2.           or failing him /her,

3. the chairman of the meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company convened 
for purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to 
be proposed thereat (“resolutions”) and at each postponement or adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against such 
resolutions, and/or abstain from voting, in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company registered in 
my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

FORM OF PROXY

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration Number: 1933/004523/06)
ISIN: ZAE000154753
Share Code: GGM
(“Goliath Gold” or “the Company”)

(formerly White Water Resources Limited)
M I N I N G  L I M I T E D
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NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

1. Ordinary resolution number 1
Approval of Financial Statements

2. Ordinary resolution number 2
Election of Jerry Vilakazi as a director

3. Ordinary resolution number 3
Election of Richard Stewart as a director

4. Ordinary resolution number 4
Election of Keith Rayner to the Audit Committee

5. Ordinary resolution number 5
Election of Jerry Vilakazi to the Audit Committee

6. Ordinary resolution number 6
Election of Piet Nel to the Audit Committee

7. Ordinary resolution number 7
Appointment of Independent Auditors

8. Special resolution number 1
Approval of the non-executive directors’ remuneration

9. Ordinary resolution number 8
Approval of the remuneration policy

10. Ordinary resolution number 9
Control of authorised but unissued ordinary shares

11. Ordinary resolution number 10
Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash

12. Special resolution number 2
General approval to acquire shares

13. Special resolution number 3 
Financial assistance for subscription of securities

14 Special resolution number 4 
Loans or other financial assistance to directors

15. Special resolution number 5
Adoption of Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company

16 Ordinary resolution number 11
Signature of documents

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant number of votes 
exercisable.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his 
stead. A proxy so appointed need not be a member of the Company.

Signed at      on       2013

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)



116 | 

NOTES TO PROXY
1 The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in 

electronic form in “own name”.
2 All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the Annual General Meeting 

must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and 
the CSDP or broker.

3 A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate 
proxies (none of whom need be a shareholder of the company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting 
“the Chairperson of the meeting”. The person whose name stands first on this form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General 
Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those proxy/proxies whose names follow. Should this space be left blank, the 
proxy will be exercised by the chairman of the meeting. 

4 A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s 
instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 
space provided. If an “X” has been inserted in one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by 
the shareholder concerned. Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual 
General Meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to 
use all the votes exercisable by the shareholders or by the proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded 
may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy.

5 A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the Annual General Meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity 
or other legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in respect of which the 
proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 48 
(forty eight) hours before the commencement of the Annual General Meeting.

6 If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, 
or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may properly be put before the Annual 
General Meeting be proposed, such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7 The chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 
compliance with these notes.

8 A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairman of the Annual General Meeting, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, shall 
be deemed to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the Annual General Meeting.

9 The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

10 Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this 
form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of the Annual General Meeting.

11 A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant 
documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the Company.

12. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:
• Any one holder may sign the form of proxy;
• The vote/s of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of ordinary 

shareholders appear in the Company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be 
accepted to the exclusion of the vote/s of the other joint shareholder/s.

13.  Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited:
Hand deliveries to:
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001

Mail deliveries to:
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107

 to be received by no later than 10:00 on Friday, 26 April 2013 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the Annual General Meeting which 
date, if necessary, will be notified on SENS).

14.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must 
be signed and not merely initialled.

Summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act
a.  A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing a proxy, and, subject to the rights of 

a shareholder to revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the relevant shareholders’ 
meeting.

b.  The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy chooses 
to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

c.  The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the Company. The revocation of 
a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder 
as of the later of (a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any; and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is 
delivered to the Company as required in the first sentence of this paragraph.

d.  If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, 
any notice that is required by the Companies Act or the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the Company 
to the shareholder, must be delivered by the Company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) 
directed the Company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so.

e.  Attention is also drawn to the “Notes to proxy”.

f.  The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting.
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